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Purpose

To help Victorians with their financial needs so they 
can make the most of their opportunities.

Vision

To be relevant, accessible and valued in the hearts and 
minds of Victorians.

Values

Wholehearted – Committed, caring and united

Acting as one business with a clear purpose, ensuring 
our clients’ interests and those of the broader Victorian 
community are at the heart of everything we do. 

Understanding – Empathetic and compassionate

Understanding client needs and demonstrating this by 
delivering empathy and compassion into every relationship. 

Commercial – Professional, expert and client driven

Recognising that we operate in a commercial world. 
Being client focused, delivering expert and professional 
advice in all areas of the business, ensuring 
sustainable profitability and growth.

Integrity – Ethical and trusted

Always applying an ethical approach and creating 
relationships with all clients, colleagues and 
stakeholders built on trust and honesty. 

State Trustees
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About this Annual Report
This annual report details State Trustees’ business 
performance for the 2012/13 financial year. 

The report provides a concise summary of our 
performance for the financial year ending 30 June 
2013. It also reviews our performance against 
our strategic objectives and records our financial 
performance in accordance with the State Trustees 
(State Owned Company) Act 1994 and other 
regulatory requirements.



State Trustees receives some Victorian Government 
funding to provide public trustee services through a 
Community Services Agreement as well as providing  
a range of services to the wider Victorian community 
on a commercial basis.

State Trustees has service centres in Melbourne, 
Bendigo and Dandenong. Will preparation 
services are also available in a number of regional 
centres throughout Victoria including Bairnsdale, 
Ballarat, Geelong, Mildura, Shepparton, Traralgon, 
Warrnambool and Wodonga.

Community engagement is facilitated via a range of 
educational activities and programs across Victoria 
as well as the annual State Trustees CONNECTED 
Art Exhibition® for artists with a disability or an 
experience of mental illness and sponsorship of  
the annual Victorian Seniors Festival. In addition,  
the State Trustees’ team contributes directly to  
a staff giving program.

State Trustees has partnered with a range of 
organisations such as Alzheimers Australia, Leadership 
Victoria and the Institute of Public Administration 
Australia Victoria.

Our services
	 •	 Will	preparation	and	secure	storage	of	Will	documents.

	 •	 Deceased	estate	administration.

	 •	 Enduring	powers	of	attorney	preparation	for	
financial,	medical	treatment	and	guardianship.

	 •	 Financial	attorneyship	administration.

	 •	 Financial	administration	under	Victorian	Civil	and	
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) administration orders.

	 •	 Trust	preparation	and	administration.

Our	clients	also	benefit	from	our	funds	management,	
funeral	funds,	taxation,	financial	planning,	legal	and	
genealogical services. 

About State Trustees
Owned by the Victorian Government and operating as a private company, State 
Trustees has been serving the Victorian community for more than 70 years by 
preparing Wills and Powers of Attorney, administering deceased estates and 
trusts and managing the financial and legal affairs of people who are unable to 
look after their own affairs due to disability, mental illness or other circumstances.



Chair Report
Julie Elliott

Following a comprehensive review in 2011, the Board set a clear objective 
for State Trustees to transform operations to ensure ongoing viability and 
sustainably through efficiency savings and by growing State Trustees’ core 
services and products.

The primary strategic focus for the Board throughout 
2012/13 has been on overseeing the business 
transformation	program.	There	have	been	significant	
operational and structural changes during the year 
across the organisation – a Business Transformation 
Report is included after the Managing Director’s Report.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank Tony Fitzgerald who will be leaving 
the organisation at the end of the year. His commitment 
to the transformation program over the past year and to 
State Trustees over the past 10 years is acknowledged 
by the Board. The scale of change that he has driven will 
help State Trustees for many years to come. 

The efficiency savings, financial performance 
improvements and improved client service outcomes 
are already showing across the corporate reporting 
framework. The Board is encouraged by the level of 
change underway and the positive results that have been 
demonstrated so far. We also reviewed the Corporate 
Plan for the coming year to set more robust corporate 
performance measures as we start to see the many 
positive aspects of this change take shape.

There	are	still	significant	challenges	ahead	and	the	Board	
will be keeping a close eye on progress through 2013/14 
to support the shift from the business transformation 
phase to a culture of continuous improvement, and to 
ensure	clients	and	efficiencies	remain	at	the	forefront	 
of service delivery and operational support objectives.

These changes will also help support the relocation 
of State Trustees corporate headquarters to Footscray 
in 2014 and follows the opening of the new Bendigo 
service centre in 2012 to ensure State Trustees is 
accessible to all Victorians.

I	am	confident	these	changes	will	leave	behind	a	legacy	
that will see State Trustees become a stronger business 
that is better able to meet the needs of all Victorians.

I would also like to mention the annual State Trustees 
CONNECTED Art Exhibition® which celebrated its 10th 
year in 2012. The exhibition is a highlight for the Board 
and provides an opportunity for artists with a disability 
or an experience of mental illness to show and sell their 
work in a professional city gallery setting. It also provides 
a valuable opportunity for the wider public to view the art 
and challenge their perceptions of ability.

I would also like to thank retiring Board members  
Dr Irene Irvine and Bobby Guttmann for their 
contribution to the Board and to State Trustees.

Julie Elliott 
Chair
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Anthony (Tony) G Fitzgerald

As mentioned in the Chair’s Report, I am leaving State Trustees at the end of 2013 
after 10 years with the organisation.

I am very proud of the achievements in my time with State Trustees and in 
particular through the Business Transformation Program which I am confident  
will see State Trustees become a stronger business that is better able to meet  
the needs of all Victorians.

Managing Director Report

State Trustees has undergone a major strategic 
review to transform the business into a sustainable 
organisation that is capable of scaling up to meet the 
changing and growing needs of an ageing Victorian 
community without increasing our cost base. A major 
structural and operational change program is now 
underway across the organisation. 

As well as our corporate systems and processes, this 
transformation has improved our client service models for 
Wills and powers of attorney preparation, deceased estate 
administration	and	financial	services	administration.	

The	scale	of	change	has	been	significant	and	I	have	
included a special report on the transformation at the 
end of this message. I look forward to handing over to 
a new leader at the end of the year to continue to lead 
State Trustees into the future.

Another	significant	occurrence	during	2012/13	was	the	
negotiation of a new Community Services Agreement 
with the Victorian Government. State Trustees receives 
some government funding from the Department 
of	Human	Services	to	provide	legal	and	financial	
administration services to clients subject to a VCAT 
order, as well as some funding for vulnerable Victorians 
to access attorneyship services, deceased estate 
administration and trustees services along with VCAT 
Guardianship list examinations.

We have transformed our organisation to provide  
a	more	efficient,	more	scalable	and	more	responsive	
business. However, further work to develop the 
appropriate government funding base for these vital 
community services is needed to ensure we are serving 
our	clients	as	efficiently	as	possible.	

As well as negotiating a new funding agreement,  
State Trustees has also been involved in the DisabilityCare 
Australia (National Disability Insurance Scheme) trial 
in the Barwon region. This impacts many of our clients 
and it is exciting to be part of this change which will 
hopefully empower our clients and, in many cases, 
improve their quality of life.

Another key highlight during the year was the 10th year 
of the State Trustees CONNECTED Art Exhibition® which 
was also mentioned in the Chair’s Report. 

 



Each year the exhibition just gets bigger and better. 
I would particularly like to thank Federation Square 
for hosting the exhibition this year and thank all the 
artists, art groups and art purchasers who help make 
this exhibition a success. The 2012 exhibition broke all 
attendance and art sales records. Preparations are well 
underway for the next exhibition which will be returning 
to Federation Square at the end of 2013.

Continuing our community engagement, State Trustees 
is a sponsor of the annual Victorian Seniors Festival 
and, has provided donations to Alzheimers Australia 
Victoria over many years. State Trustees is also involved 
in many advocacy initiatives to support the wellbeing 
of our community. Employees also contribute to a 
Wholehearted Giving Program which provides funds  
to various community organisations.

To help ensure more Victorians can access our services,  
a	new	regional	office	was	opened	in	Bendigo	in	July	
2012.	The	vast	majority	of	the	100	jobs	offered	were	
filled	by	people	from	the	Bendigo	region.	A	small	number	
of	staff	from	our	other	offices	also	relocated	to	Bendigo	
and the support of people from central and northern 
Victoria has been strong. 

Our Bendigo and Dandenong service centres combined 
with our regional Will preparation services, community 
seminar programs and pending relocation of State 
Trustees corporate headquarters to Footscray in 2014 
will help ensure more Victorians can access our services.

Preparations for the relocation are well underway and I 
will hand over to a new leader at the end of 2013 who 
will oversee the move. 

On a personal note, I would like to thank the leadership 
team	and	staff	for	their	commitment	and	support	over	
my time with State Trustees and wish the organisation 
well for the future. 

Anthony G Fitzgerald 
Managing Director

Key results  Finance results State	Trustees’	budgeted	for	a	loss	before	tax	for	the	financial	year	
of	$572,000.	The	financial	year’s	actual	performance	an	after-tax	
profit of $1,092 million. We budgeted for a $67.219 million  
financial	year	turnover,	achieving	an	actual	financial	year	turnover	
of $65.511 million.

	 	 Workforce	productivity	benefits	of	15%	were	delivered	including	
direct cost reduction of $4 million.

	 	 At	the	close	of	the	financial	year,	our	total	assets	under	
management and trusteeship were approximately $1.884 billion.

 Client outcomes  8 in 10 clients and their support networks believe State Trustees  
is acting in the client’s best interests.   

  Average time to complete administration of deceased estates 
reduced	by	more	than	50%.
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Following a comprehensive review in 2011 of products, 
pricing, service models, resourcing, and overall value 
propositions, a program of major business renewal 
commenced in 2012. 

A target operating model was developed, which 
described the core building blocks and enablers to 
achieve	a	vision	for	more	cost-effective,	transparent	
and	client-focused	service	delivery.

The exciting aspect of this program has been the 
absolute commitment of all State Trustees employees 
to ensuring success through clear accountability to 
clients and to each other.

State Trustees faced significant challenges to ensure its services continued to 
resonate with Victorians whose life circumstances and key financial choices were 
increasingly complex. 

Special Report–Business Transformation

solutions

Strategy
Sustainable growth in our core and 

client generation businesses

Distributed delivery model based on client                  
geography with a client value proposition:
• Personal: Client ‘interests at our heart’

• Reliable: Accountable for our actions 
• Value: Transparent and cost effective service delivery

External Relationships
• Aligned to strategic 

objectives

• Actively managed and 
regularly reviewed

• Collaborative, mutually 
beneficial 

Workforce
• Capable
• Highly engaged

• Empowered to make 
‘risk based’ decisions

Culture
• Values -driven
• ‘One organisation’

• Accountability for 
performance

Physical assets
• Reflects the culture
• Supports efficient 

workflows
• Part owned/part 

leased

Organisation 
structure

• Client-centred
• Optimal spans of 

control

• Decisions devolved to 
point of delivery

Information & 
technology

• Strong governance
• Platform based 

• Single source of truth 
for business information

Why we exist and choices 
made to enable this

How value is delivered 
for stakeholders

The way things
actually get done

Core enablers

Purpose
Help Victorians 

with their financial 
needs so they can 
make the most of 

their opportunities

Business processes
• Standardised
• Integrated with smooth 

transfers
• Automated (where 

possible)

Service delivery model

Good Board 
governance



Employee Commitment
Key Strategy To	support	and	protect	our	client’s	financial	and	legal	interests,	our	strategy	is	to	sustainably	 

grow our core and client generation businesses by 2014/15, focusing on Wills and Estates. 

 •	 To	positively	embrace	change	so	that	innovation	becomes	success.	
	 •	 Effective	communication	within	and	between	teams	and	with	stakeholders.	
	 •	 To	be	client	focused,	accountable	and	promote	an	engaged	workforce	with	a	‘Can	Do’	attitude.	

 We will hold ourselves and each other accountable to our signature behaviours  
 by understanding each other’s roles. 

 This will be supported by: 
	 •	 Clearly	defined	service	models;	
	 •	 Best	practice	policies,	frameworks	and	processes;	
	 •	 Efficient	and	accessible	technology	platforms;	and	
	 •	 Training	and	support.

 Through strong leadership and engaged employees we will embrace transformation  
	 to	achieve	strategic,	operational	and	financial	targets.

Pathways to 
our Strategy 

In 2012/13 State Trustees focused on 26 key 
business transformation projects across seven 
streams: new products, service model enhancements, 
outsourcing	non-core	functions,	intensive	leadership	
development, culture programs, human resource 
governance and procurement overhauls. 
Some key outcomes of the program in 2012/13  
are included below:
	 •	 Workforce	productivity	benefits	of	15	per	cent	

fully delivered, including direct cost reduction  
of $4 million, expected to rise to more than  
$9 million in 2013/14.

	 •	 Substantial	progress	towards	planning	for	significant	
Information Communication Technology investment 
in 2013/14 was also made with a focus on business 
process automation, business intelligence tools and 
a full digital strategy.

	 •	 Launch	of	two	new	products	–	an	online	Will	Kit	
and a Will Bank.

	 •	 Average	time	to	administer	deceased	estates	
reduced	by	more	than	50%	to	220	days.

	 •	 Efficient	support	services	delivering	reliable	and	
accurate business support to front line staff, 
including a new operations centre in Bendigo.

	 •	 Improved	client	service	to	represented	persons	
including eliminating the need for daily cash 
handouts and providing our clients with a greater 
sense	of	control	and	direction	over	their	own	affairs.

	 •	 Refreshed	contracts	with	suppliers	saving	more	
than $750,000 per annum. 

	 •	 Leadership	development	programs	for	 
supervisors at all levels from front line  
supervisors to the Managing Director.

	 •	 Major	program	of	internal	culture	change	
resulting in clear accountabilities and control 
frameworks, ensuring that expectations of staff 
and management are clear and unambiguous.

	 •	 New	human	resources	governance	program	with	every	
employee having concise role descriptions, performance 
plans, and KPIs expressed in balanced scorecard format 
emphasising outcomes rather than activity.

The key to the success of this program has been the 
whole-of-company	approach.	The	effort	required	from	
every employee has been substantial. As the successes 
continued	to	be	achieved,	confidence	grew	across	
the business that even more substantial business 
improvements were possible.

Employees at every level have been empowered  
to contribute directly to this success.

As a sign of this commitment to a shared objective, every 
team produced a narrative of the corporate strategy 
in their own words. More than 30 representatives from 
every team came together, bringing their team narratives 
to construct a transformation strategy statement. That 
output, which is employee constructed, is reproduced 
below and is a focal point of employee commitment to 
the program.

The success of the 2012/13 program has convinced 
us to expand the scope of change in 2013/14. This 
will help to embed an ongoing culture of continuous 
improvement and fully implement the Information 
Communication Technology.  
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Our Performance
State Trustees conducts an annual survey. This year, 
1,460 clients and their support networks were surveyed. 
They were asked about their likelihood to recommend, 
their likelihood to buy more and their likelihood to stay 
with State Trustees.

This section provides a snapshot of performance for some 
of our key service areas. 
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This	financial	statement	covers	both	State	Trustees	
Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated 
entity consisting of State Trustees Limited and STL 
Financial Services Limited. 

State	Trustees	Limited	is	a	State-owned	enterprise.	 
Its	registered	office	and	principal	place	of	business	is:	

State Trustees Limited 
168 Exhibition Street 
Melbourne Vic. 3000

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s 
operations and its principal activities is included in the 
Directors’	Report	on	pages	13-19,	which	is	not	part	of	
this	financial	statement.

The	financial	statement	was	authorised	for	issue	by	the	
directors on 27 August 2013.



Directors’ Report
1. Board Of Directors

State Trustees Limited’s Board of Directors presents the company and economic 
entity’s financial statements as at 30 June 2013. 

Julie Elliott 
MBA (Exec), BEc, FCA, GAICD, SA Fin

Appointed: 5 March 2008 (as Director), 1 December 
2008	(as	Chair)	[Non-Executive]

Committees: Chair of the Business Transformation 
and Remuneration Committees, Acting Chair of 
the Investment Committee and Member of the 
Compliance and Audit Committees.

Experience: Julie is a Chartered Accountant and has  
a wealth of experience in both global corporations  
and	high-profile	public	sector	boards	spanning	more	
than 20 years.

Julie is currently CEO of the Bank of Sydney and has 
held a range of senior and professional positions, 
including Strategic Consulting for Firstwater, Global 
Head of Sales and Service, Payments, National 
Australia Bank, General Manager, Strategy, Marketing 
and Product Development with MLC Corporate 
Solutions and Senior Audit Manager with KPMG.

Julie was on the Board of Metropolitan Fire and 
Emergency Services from 2001 to 2007 and President 
and Chair from 2005 to 2007. She also chaired the 
Audit Committee. During her time as Chair she played 
a leading role in the recruitment of a new CEO and 
driving a cultural change agenda that transformed  
the organisation.

Julie is a graduate of Leadership Victoria’s Williamson 
Community Leadership Program.

Anthony G Fitzgerald 
BBus, CPA, MAICD

Appointed: 25	September	2003	[Executive]

Committees: Member of State Trustees Australia 
Foundation Advisory Committee and the Business 
Transformation, Compliance and Investment 
Committees. Attends Audit Committee and 
Remuneration Committee by invitation.

Experience: Over the last 37 years, Tony Fitzgerald has 
gained	extensive	financial	services	experience	from	a	
number of senior roles in the National Australia Bank 
(NAB) Group, both in Australia and overseas. 

These include Strategy Adviser, Global Business Financial 
Services, and Head of Business Marketing, and Business 
Financial Services Australia. His experience in the 
NAB Group covered the areas of strategy, marketing, 
organisational planning, credit analysis, sales, and 
customer and outlet management.

Tony was the National President of the Trustee 
Companies Association from 2007 until 2011.

He joined State Trustees in 2002 as General Manager 
Estate Planning Solutions overseeing Estate 
Management, Wills, Attorneyships, and Trusts and  
has been Managing Director since September 2003.

Tony holds a Bachelor of Business Accounting from  
the Queensland University of Technology, and is a CPA.
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Dino Georgiou 
LLB (Hons), BCom

Appointed: 14	December	2011	[Non-Executive]

Committees: Member of the Investment and 
Compliance Committees.

Experience: Dino has over 15 years’ experience in the 
legal, government and telecommunications sectors. 
Dino works with Telstra and has held a range of senior 
roles in Telstra’s commercial, regulatory, marketing 
and sales groups with a focus on large transactions, 
regulatory negotiations and strategy.

A former corporate lawyer specialising in banking, 
finance	and	commercial,	Dino	has	also	served	in	Senior	
Adviser positions for Federal Ministers of Finance, 
with responsibility for oversight of Commonwealth 
Government Business Enterprises and the Minister 
for Defence on acquisitions and procurement, major 
projects and industry.

Dino holds degrees in Law and Commerce from the 
University of Melbourne.

Dr Irene Irvine 
PhD Chem, BSc (Hons), DipEd, GradDip (Admin), 
FRACI, GAICD, AFAIM

Appointed: 1	July	2004	[Non-Executive]

Retired: 30 June 2013

Committees: Chair of the Compliance Committee and 
Member of the Audit Committee, and a past member of 
the Remuneration Committee.

Experience: Irene is a Director with several decades 
experience and runs her own management consulting 
practice. She has held a range of senior positions 
in business development, fundraising and strategic 
marketing in both the public and private sectors 
(including disability services). 

Irene is a graduate of Leadership Victoria’s Williamson 
Community Leadership Program and devotes much 
of	her	time	to	not-for-profit	or	charity	activities.	She	is	
a past Chair of the Phillip Island Nature Park Board of 
Management Inc., and Deputy Chair of the Zoological 
Board of Victoria. She is currently a Director of Australia’s 
Open Garden Scheme, Karringal Disability Services and 
South Gippsland Water. She is also an independent 
member of South Gippsland Shire Audit Committee.



Patrick Burroughs 
BSSc (Hons), FCA, FAICD, SA Fin

Appointed: 1	May	2008	[Non-Executive]

Committees: Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and Member of the Business Transformation and 
Remuneration Committees.

Experience: Patrick is a Chartered Accountant 
with extensive experience in a range of industries 
including	financial	services,	building	and	construction,	
manufacturing and government (health, treasury and 
finance)	sectors.

Patrick is currently a Director of Queen Victoria  
Market Pty Ltd. 

Lindsay Smith 
MBA, MAICD

Appointed:	1	March	2012	[Non-Executive]

Committees: Chairman of the State Trustees Australia 
Foundation Advisory Committee and Member of the 
Audit Committee.

Experience: Lindsay has extensive experience in 
sales,	marketing	and	distribution	from	his	20-year	
involvement in the privately owned company PFD Food 
Services and various food manufacturing and building 
products businesses.

Throughout his career with PFD Food Services he has 
held various senior management and executive director 
positions. PFD Food Services is a leading broad line food 
service business and operates 65 distribution centres 
nationally	including	a	significant	presence	across	
regional Australia.

He is a Director of PFD Food Services Pty Ltd and related 
wholly owned entities. He is also Chairman of Dingo 
Cement Australia, a Director of 7 Chefs Pty Ltd and P&V 
Forrest Investments Pty Ltd. 

Lindsay holds a Master of Business Administration from 
Swinburne University of Technology.
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Robert (Bobby) Guttmann 
BSC (Hons), CISA

Appointed:	1	July	2010	[Non-Executive]

Retired: 30 June 2013

Committees: Member of the Investment and 
Remuneration Committees.

Experience: Bobby has over 25 years experience in the 
IT industry in a variety of specialist roles including IT 
auditor, architect, analyst, and performance tuner. He has 
helped	organisations	find	smarter,	more	efficient	ways	to	
manage and get more out of their IT functions through 
the	effective	use	of	IT	software	and	process	frameworks.

Bobby has provided consulting services to a variety of 
clients both in Australia and internationally, mainly in 
the telecommunications and energy sectors. Bobby 
has authored and presented papers at a number of 
Australian and international conferences on a variety of 
topics, including performance tuning, database design, 
IT security, and IT governance. Bobby also runs his own 
software based Mind Modelling consultancy. 

In addition, Bobby is involved in various community 
organisations and is currently a Board member of Beit 
Aharon synagogue.

Prue Willsford 
LLB GAICD

General Manager Corporate Operations 
Company Secretary 

Christopher Robert Martin 
LLB (Hons), B Ec (Acc)

Appointed: 27	August	2013	[Non-Executive]

Committees: None during the reporting period.

Experience: Chris is one of Australia’s leading 
turnaround and corporate renewal advisors. He is a 
qualified	solicitor	and	chartered	accountant	with	a	
broad range of advisory and operational experience. 
Having previously worked as a management consultant 
and an investment banker Chris has a long history in 
assessing and improving corporate performance.

Prior to joining 333, Chris was the Managing Director 
of	an	ASX-listed	company	which	focused	on	the	needs	
of the ageing population. In this role he developed and 
implemented a new corporate strategy designed to 
deliver	sustainable	and	profitable	growth.	While	the	initial	
focus was on improving the operational and financial 
performance of existing business units this initiative 
was supplemented by a range of acquisitions. Chris led 
the post merger integration team and understands the 
opportunities and challenges associated with delivering 
growth in a corporate environment.

Having considerable experience as both advisor and 
front line manager, Chris brings operational empathy 
and understands the importance of designing practical 
solutions that are capable of being assessed against 
clearly	defined	and	measurable	outcomes.	
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Director Board Audit Compliance Investment  Remuneration STAF+ Advisory Business 
 Meeting Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Transformation 
  (b) (c) (a) (d) (a) (g) (h) Committee (a)

 A H A H A H A H A H A H A H

Julie Elliott 9 9 4 4 4 4 4 4 2 2 (f) (f) 7 7

Tony Fitzgerald 9 9 4(d) 4(d) 4 4 4 4 2 2 2 2 7 7

Patrick Burroughs 8 9 4 4 (f) (f) (f) (f) 2 2 (f) (f) 6 7

Dino Georgiou 9 9 (f) (f) 4 4 3 4 (f) (f) (f) (f) 2* 2*

Dr Irene Irvine 9 9 4 4 4 4 (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f)

Lindsay Smith 9 9 4 4 (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) 2 2 1* 1*

Bobby Guttmann 8 9 (f) (f) (f) (f) 4 4 2 2 (f) (f) (f) (f)

Chris Martin# - - (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f)

A Number of meetings attended

H	 Number	of	meetings	held	during	the	time	the	Director	held	office	
(exclusive of leave of absence)

(a) Julie Elliott is Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee, Chairman of the Business 
Transformation Committee and Acting Chairman of the 
Investment Committee

(b) Patrick Burroughs is Chairman of the Audit Committee

(c) Irene Irvine is Chairman of the Compliance Committee

(d) Tony Fitzgerald attends the Audit Committee and Remuneration 
Committee by invitation

(e) Lindsay Smith is Chairman of the STAF Advisory Committee

(f) Director is not a member of this Committee

* Lindsay Smith and Dino Georgiou attended the Business 
Transformation Committee meetings as guests 

# Chris Martin was appointed on 27 August 2013 and is a Director at 
the time of signing the Directors’ Report and Directors’ Declaration, 
however, he was not a Director during the reporting period

	+	 STAF	denotes	‘State	Trustees	Australia	Foundation’

2 Directors’ Meetings



3 Principal Activities 
State Trustees Limited’s principal activities during the 
year were as trustee, executor, administrator, attorney 
and	provider	of	other	fiduciary	and	agency	services.	

4 Dividend
In keeping with their declared policy of distributing 
50%	of	operating	profit	after	tax	to	the	shareholder,	the	
directors recommend a total dividend of $546k for the 
2012/13	financial	year	(2012:nil	due	to	a	dividend	holiday).

 2013 2012 
 $000 $000

Interim	dividend		 -	 -

Final dividend* 546	 -

Total dividends for the year 546	 -

*The	final	2013	dividend	is	not	payable	until	approved	by	the	
shareholder. Accordingly, we have not made a provision for the 
dividend in the current accounts.

5 Review Of Operations 
The current reporting period has seen many 
achievements and changes, and we have continued on 
our strategic journey of being more relevant, accessible 
and valued in the hearts and minds of Victorians. 

The Business Transformation program has made 
significant	change	within	our	organisation,	while	
improving our service delivery to the wider community. 
Our business model has improved and we have seen  
a change in our corporate culture, however our journey  
is not yet complete. 

The core program objectives are to ensure the ongoing 
sustainability of State Trustees Limited by:

•	 Providing	a	clearer	focus	on	delivering	value	to	 
our	clients;

•	 Clear,	well	understood	service	standards	(consistent	
service	at	a	fair	price);

•	 Reducing	cost	to	serve;	and

•	 Increasing	revenue.

We have travelled down the path of change, for the  
benefit	of	our	clients,	employees	and	the	shareholder.	 
To date, the Business Transformation has yielded 
positive results including a more sustainable business 
model. However, we must continue to push forward 
to build on these gains as the task is not yet complete. 
We must now look to build on the solid foundation 
of change and implement systems, controls and 
automation into our processes and functions. 

Therefore we will concentrate on delivering clear service 
promises to our clients that do not over or under deliver. 
This	will	mean	that	we	provide	the	right	service	-	seamless,	
responsive and timely. January 2012 saw the introduction 
of	the	first	phase	of	the	project	with	the	commencement	
of a new Corporate Structure and Operating Model. This 
work has continued through 2012/13.

The	profit	before	tax	was	$1,569k	(2012:	$720k).	This	
represents	a	118%	increase	on	last	year	and	is	higher	
than	the	budgeted	loss	of	($572k).	The	profit	after	tax	was	
$1,092k (2012: $120k) exceeding the budgeted loss of 
($473k). In addition, we have seen further adjustments 
(net decrease) to the valuation of our Land and Buildings, 
which has decreased the Asset Revaluation Reserve 
(Equity) by $999k (2012: +$1,630k). The downward 
valuation related to the entire building based on market 
values	and	has	been	impacted	by	tighter	finance	
arrangements and lower rental yields.

We	achieved	overall	revenue	growth	of	3.49%	(2012	
2.89%)	Commissions	and	fees	have	seen	an	increase	of	
1.05%	(2012:	4.32%)	due	to	larger	client	volumes	in	some	
areas and more complex services required elsewhere. 

The Community Services Agreement has been  
re-negotiated	with	the	Department	of	Human	Services	
for a further three years while we continue to negotiate 
future funding arrangements. 

We continue to invest in our business, through the 
launch of new technology (EDRMS), client servicing 
facilities	(State	Trustees’	Footscray	offices	at	McNab	
Avenue are beginning to take shape) and a continued 
marketing presence. The future will continue to see 
change at State Trustees Limited and we have the vision 
and strategies in place to meet the challenges. 
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6 Significant Changes In  
The State Of Affairs 
There	were	no	significant	changes	in	the	company’s	state	
of	affairs	other	than	those	referred	to	in	the	financial	
statements or attached notes.

7 Matters Subsequent To The End  
Of The Financial Year
There are no circumstances which have arisen since  
30 June 2013 not otherwise dealt with in this report that 
have	significantly	affected	or	may	significantly	affect	
the operations of the company, the results of those 
operations	or	the	state	of	affairs	of	the	company	in	
subsequent	financial	years.

8 Likely Developments and  
Future Results
The Directors advise that there are no likely developments 
in the company’s operations or expected results in future 
financial	years	to	report	other	than	what	is	contained	in	
this report.

9 Insurance
During	the	financial	year,	State	Trustees	Limited	paid	 
a	premium	under	a	contract	insuring	specified	officers	
against liability incurred in their capacity of working on 
the company’s behalf. 

Those	officers	consist	of	the	Directors	of	the	Company	
named earlier in this report, the Company Secretary, 
and	other	Officers	of	the	Company	including	certain	
Officers	whose	functions	include	exercising	executive	
decision making powers of the Company and its related 
bodies corporate.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount  
of	premium	is	prohibited	by	the	confidentiality	clause	
of the contract of insurance. The Company has not 
provided any insurance for an auditor of the Company  
or related body corporate. 

10 Reserve Fund
State Trustees Limited has complied with the provisions 
of the Trustee Companies Act 1984 that requires a reserve 
fund to be created and set aside by authorised trustee 
companies.	This	is	reflected	in	the	financial	statements	 
at Note 9.

11 Auditors’ Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration, as 
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, 
is set out on page 20.

12 Rounding Amounts
The amounts contained within this report and the 
financial	report	have	been	rounded	to	the	nearest	$1,000	
(where rounding is applicable) under the option available 
to the company under ASIC CO 98/0100. The Company 
is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

This report is signed in accordance with a resolution  
of the Board of Directors.

Julie A Elliott 
Chairman of Directors

 
Anthony G Fitzgerald 
Managing Director 
Melbourne, 27 August 2013



13 Victorian Auditor-General’s 
Independence Declaration
To the Directors, State Trustees Limited 
The	Auditor-General’s	independence	is	established	 
by the Constitution Act 1975. 

The	Auditor-General,	an	independent	officer	of	
parliament, is not subject to direction by any person 
about the way in which his powers and responsibilities 
are to be exercised.

Under the Audit Act 1994, the	Auditor-General	is	the	
auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and 
property, and may report to parliament any matters 
which	the	Auditor-General	considers	appropriate.

Independence declaration 
As auditor for State Trustees Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2013, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge 
and belief, there have been:

(a)  no contraventions of auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001  
in relation to the audit

(b)  no contraventions of any applicable code of 
professional conduct in relation to the audit.

 
John Doyle  
Auditor- General 

Level 24, 35 Collins Street, Melbourne Vic. 3000 
Telephone 61 3 8601 7000   
Facsimile 61 3 8601 7010 
Email comments@audit.vic.gov.au  
Website www.audit.vic.gov.au

Auditing in the Public Interest

14 Victorian Government Risk 
Management Framework Attestation
In the context of the Victorian Government Risk 
Management Framework and State Trustees’ observance 
of the framework, I, Julie Ann Elliott certify that State 
Trustees Limited has risk management processes in 
place consistent with the Australian/New Zealand 
Risk Management Standard (or equivalent designated 
standard) and an internal control system is in place that  
is intended to enable the Executive to understand, 
manage and satisfactorily control material risk exposures.

The	Board	verifies	this	assurance	and	that	the	risk	profile	
of State Trustees Limited has been critically reviewed 
within the last 12 months.

 
Julie A Elliott  
Chairman of Directors
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Our core governance practices are consistent with  
the	Victorian	Government’s	‘Good	practice	guide	 
on governance for Victorian public sector entities’.

For ease of reporting, we have addressed our 
governance practices through five key corporate 
public sector governance principles. Unless otherwise 
stated, these practices have been in place for the full 
financial year.

This corporate governance statement sets out 
information about our enabling legislation.

1 Accountability

1.1 Corporate structure

State Trustees, under its enabling legislation,  
State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994 (Vic), 
reports to the Government of Victoria, and comes under 
the Department of Treasury and Finance. The State of 
Victoria is our sole shareholder. We have a Board of 
Directors, whose members are appointed by the 
 Victorian Treasurer on behalf of the State of Victoria.

State of Victoria 
Shareholder (Overseen by the Department  
of Treasury and Finance)

State Trustees Limited

Board of Directors

Managing Director

Corporate Leadership Team

Senior Leadership Team

1.2 Communication with shareholder

Through the Board of Directors, State Trustees reports 
to the Treasurer as the State of Victoria’s representative.

This communication includes:

•	 Quarterly	reporting	on	financial	performance,	 
any	significant	variations	from	the	Corporate	Plan,	
business	risks,	and	general	business	issues;

•	 Responding	to	questions	arising	from	the	quarterly	
reporting either as ad hoc reports or in direct 
meetings	with	the	Treasurer	or	his	representatives;

•	 Financial	statements,	directors’	reports,	and	the	
auditor’s reports as required by the Corporations Act 
2001	(Commonwealth);

•	 Any	reports	requested	by	the	Auditor-General	or	
Ombudsman;	and

•	 Responses	to	questions	from	Members	of	Parliament.

1.3 Executive reporting lines

Managing Director, Tony Fitzgerald, leads State Trustees. 
Earlier in the year he had seven general managers as 
direct reports. At the end of the reporting period he 
had	five	general	managers	as	direct	reports.	This	group,	
known as the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) meets 
formally each week and informally as required. 

State Trustees is committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest 
standards of corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



1.4 Performance to plan

State	Trustees’	financial	year	operations	were 
based	on	its	Corporate	Strategy	2012-2014. 
We centre our key corporate performance  
indicators	on	two	components	-	client	feedback	 
and financial performance.

Client feedback 
Each year State Trustees gathers client feedback 
across our Retail and Personal Financial Administration 
services via the Client Value Index (CVI) survey. In 
2012/13, we spoke to 1,460 clients and their support 
networks about their experience with State Trustees, 
and our performance against expectations.

Retail services 
At the core of the Retail Services Client Value Index (CVI) 
survey is a composite score which measures clients’ 
preference for State Trustees over competitors, their 
willingness to buy more of our services, and likelihood 
of recommending State Trustees to others.

All product services experienced an increase in their 
respective CVI scores. However, due to a new weighting 
for Executor Services, a key revenue driver, the overall 
2013	State	Trustees	Retail	Services	CVI	score	was	66%,	
marginally	lower	than	2012	(68%).	

Seven in 10 clients said they would recommend State 
Trustees to others.

Personal Financial Administration services 
The Client Value Index (CVI) score for clients whose 
financial	and	legal	affairs	we	administer	under	a	Victorian	
Civil Administrative Tribunal order, is a composite score 
which measures the perception that State Trustees 
acts in the best interests of clients, and willingness to 
recommend State Trustees to others.

In 2013 the State Trustees Personal Financial 
Administration	Services	CVI	score	was	77%.	This	is	a	drop	
from	81%	in	2012	but	up	from	75%	in	2011.	More	than	
80%	of	respondents	agree	that	State	Trustees	acts	in	the	
best interests of our clients.

Financial performance 
State Trustees’ budgeted for a loss before tax for the 
financial	year	of	$572k.	The	financial	year’s	actual	
performance	was	a	profit	before	tax	of	$1.569	million.	 
We budgeted for a $67.219 million financial year 
turnover,	achieving	an	actual	financial	year	turnover	 
of $65.511 million.

At	the	close	of	the	financial	year,	our	total	assets	under	
management and trusteeship were approximately 
$1.884 billion.

1.5 Conflict of interest

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing 
basis,	of	any	interests	that	might	potentially	conflict	
with those of the Company. Directors are guided in 
this	area	by	Board-developed	procedures	on	disclosing	
potential	conflicts	of	interest.	Where	the	Board	believes	
a	significant	conflict	exists	for	a	Director	on	a	Board	
matter, the Director concerned does not receive the 
relevant Board papers and is not present at the meeting 
while the item is considered.
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2 Transparency and Openness

2.1 Legislation establishing the entity

State Trustees Limited was established as a result of 
the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994. The 
State Trust Corporation of Victoria was its predecessor.

State Trustees is a company under the Corporations 
Act 2001 and a trustee company under the Trustee 
Companies Act 1984 (Vic).

Although Federal legislation to regulate licensed trustee 
companies was enacted in 2009/10, State Trustees is 
exempt because the State of Victoria decided not to 
request that State Trustees be licensed. State Trustees 
remains regulated under Victorian law.

2.2 Goals and strategies

State Trustees is committed to helping Victorians make 
the	most	of	their	financial	opportunities.	We	look	after	the	
financial	and	legal	affairs	of	people	where	the	Victorian	
Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) has appointed 
State Trustees via an administration order as well as clients 
who voluntarily appoint us or use our services.

Under the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act, the 
Minister is responsible for ensuring that services relating 
to managing and administering estates and property 
are provided to clients who do not have the resources to 
obtain those services. The Minister does this by entering 
into a contract with State Trustees (the Community 
Services Agreement), to provide these services.

In addition, State Trustees provides numerous services 
on a commercial basis. These services include 
estate planning, estate administration, preparing 
enduring	powers	of	attorney,	administering	financial	
powers of attorney, preparing Wills and creating 
and administering trusts. Our clients also directly 
benefit	from	financial	planning,	taxation,	legal	and	
genealogical services.

Since	becoming	a	State-owned	company	in	1994,	
we’ve continually improved our customer services and 
accountabilities while striving for commercial success 
and competitiveness.

Our Corporate Strategy from 2012/13 has a sharper 
focus on whole of business transformation. For many 
years we relied on our commercial business to help meet 
our legislative and community services obligations.

The corporate strategy is described across four 
strategic themes:

• Growth – To achieve growth in Executor and 
professional services.

• Client Service – To provide a service that delivers 
value to our clients, stakeholders and the community, 
aligned with market and community standards.

• People & Culture – To create and sustain a workforce 
culture that supports our target operating model with 
a key focus to embed accountability and leadership 
capability in our teams.

•	 Business Sustainability – To ensure our business 
fundamentals	are	sustainable	by	providing	efficient	
and	effective	services	allowing	us	the	capacity	to	grow.

By 2015 our goal is to have an increased focus on return 
on equity.



2.3 Governance structure

State Trustees’ governance structure is driven by three 
pieces of legislation: the State Owned Enterprises Act, 
the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act and the 
Corporations Act. Our creation followed microeconomic 
reforms at the State and Federal level in the 1980s, which 
saw the push towards Government entities becoming 
commercialised, corporatised, or privatised.

Although	we	are	a	profit-oriented	Government	Business	
Enterprise (GBE), we are also driven by the accountabilities 
of private sector organisations. Accordingly, our 
governance	is	influenced	by	both	private	company	and	
public entity principles. For the sake of reporting our 
governance, we use the public sector entity approach.

2.4 Competitive neutrality

State	Trustees	is	a	public	financial	enterprise	within	the	
meaning of the Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria 
2000 prepared by the Department of Treasury and 
Finance. State Trustees operates under a corporatised 
model, and pays the full suite of Commonwealth and 
State taxes or tax equivalents.

2.5 Remuneration policies

Principles used to determine remuneration  
State Trustees bases its executive remuneration  
packages on the principle of reward for performance.  
Our remuneration framework, from the Government 
Sector Executive Remuneration Panel (GSERP), aims to 
align executive reward with achieving strategic objectives 
and creating value for our shareholder.

Our	executive	officers’	pay	and	reward	framework	has	
two key components: 

•	 Base	remuneration	is	structured	as	a	total	employment	
cost package, and can be delivered as a mix of cash, 
superannuation,	and	prescribed	non	financial	benefits	
at the Executives’ discretion. 

	 Executives	are	offered	a	base	pay	comprising	the	 
fixed	component	of	pay	and	rewards,	which	is	no	 
more	than	80%	of	the	Managing	Director’s	base	 
salary (as determined by GSERP).

 External remuneration consultants provide advice 
on	whether	our	Executives’	base	pay	reflects	the	
financial	services	market	for	a	comparable	role.	The	
Remuneration Committee reviews Senior Executives’ 
base pay annually to compare competitiveness with the 
financial,	legal	and	trustee	services	markets.	There	are	
no	guaranteed	base	pay	increases	fixed	in	any	Senior	
Executives’ contracts.

•	 Short-term	incentives	are	available	to	each	Executive	
depending on the role’s accountabilities and impact on 
organisational and business unit performance. Senior 
Executives can receive a bonus of up to 20 per cent 
of total base remuneration, which the Remuneration 
Committee approves.
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3 Integrity 
3.1 Reporting quality

Relevant legislation and accounting standards guide 
State	Trustees’	financial	reporting.

While	State	Trustees	Limited	is	a	State-owned	enterprise,	
we have numerous stakeholders who are interested in 
our ethics and performance. Key to all our activities are 
the safety and security of our funds under trust for both 
represented people and the broader public.

We	inform	stakeholders	of	our	effectiveness	in	achieving	
these goals in a range of ways including through our 
Annual Report, which we produce in hard copy, and 
make available online at www.statetrustees.com.au. 
We	also	provide	a	bi-annual	magazine	and	targeted	
communication to clients and stakeholders throughout 
the year.

Our	staff,	who	are	major	stakeholders	in	the	provision	 
of services to our clients, are continually updated on our 
performance.	Staff	attend	quarterly	presentations	given	
by the Managing Director and can follow these up on 
the company intranet. 

3.2 Audit Committee

State Trustees has an Audit Committee comprising 
four	non-executive	directors	as	at	30	June	2013.	The	
committee advises on establishing and maintaining a 
framework of internal control for managing State Trustees. 

The Audit Committee:

•	 Oversees	financial	reporting	and	statutory	accounts,	
and	corporate	accounting	policies;

•	 Reviews,	approves	and	monitors	the	system	 
of	internal	controls;

•	 Reviews	the	external	audit	plan;	and

•	 In	conjunction	with	the	Compliance	Committee,	 
sets an internal audit program.

More information on the Audit Committee is provided 
under the Leadership section on page 32.

3.3 Code of Conduct

State Trustees is committed to operating ethically. We 
have a Code of Conduct which is our public statement of 
how	we	conduct	our	business	and	treat	clients	and	staff.	
We use the Code of Conduct to communicate how we 
expect	staff	to	act	with	honesty	and	integrity	at	all	times.

Our	Code	of	Conduct	contains	specific	clauses	relating	
to	confidentiality,	email	and	information	technology,	
conflict	of	interest,	and	personal	behaviour.	It	expressly	
addresses	dealing	with	breaches	and	non-compliance	
with the Code.

Confidentiality 
We expect staff to maintain and respect the 
confidentiality and privacy of clients’ personal and 
financial information. Staff must not use or disclose 
any confidential information for any unauthorised 
purpose, including for personal use or to benefit a 
third party. An essential part of all staff employment 
arrangements is adherence to our Code of Conduct.

When dealing with represented persons’ affairs,  
we refer staff to the secrecy obligations set out 
in section 17 of the State Trustees (State Owned 
Company) Act, and remind them that we are subject  
to other privacy obligations that may include the 
Privacy Act 1988 (Commonwealth), Information Privacy Act 
2000 (Vic) and Health Records Act 2001 (Vic) depending 
on the circumstances.

Conflict of interest 
Our Code of Conduct draws attention to conflict 
of interest. We advocate acting with honesty and 
integrity in all aspects of our business. In keeping with 
this value, we require staff to take care to avoid actual 
or apparent conflicts of interest between their private 
affairs and our business. We define conflicts of interest 
as situations where a staff member has a personal 
interest that may influence (or even appear  
to	influence)	the	way	they	perform	their	official	duties.

We regularly revise our Code of Conduct. In reviewing 
the Code of Conduct we seek input from our Legal, 
Compliance and People & Culture business units to 
reference updated and emerging issues and cross 
reference	other	policies	from	which	conflict	issues	 
can arise.



All new employees receive a copy of the Code of 
Conduct during their induction training. It is also 
available on our intranet, and we require staff to 
confirm electronically that they have read and 
understood it. At that time, we also give staff the 
opportunity to ask questions in relation to any aspect 
of the Code they don’t understand.

3.4 Whistleblowers’ Protection

In December 2012 the Victorian Government introduced 
legislation creating a stronger integrity system for the 
Victorian Public sector. The Government enacted the 
Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission 
(IBAC) Act 2011 (Vic), establishing IBAC. The Protected 
Disclosures Act 2012 (Vic) was enacted in February 2013 
to replace the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (Vic).

Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (Vic)  
July 1 2012 – February 10 2013.  
State Trustees is committed to the aims and objectives  
of the Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (Vic). We don’t 
tolerate	our	staff	at	any	level	acting	improperly	at	any	time,	
nor do we take reprisals against those who come forward 
to disclose improper conduct. We recognise the value of 
transparency and accountability in how we do business.

We support staff disclosing conduct that is corrupt, 
involves substantial mismanagement of public 
resources, or substantial risk to public health and 
safety or the environment.

We	take	all	reasonable	steps	to	protect	staff	who	make	
such disclosures from any detrimental action relating 
to that disclosure. We also provide natural justice to the 
person who is the subject of the disclosure.

Compliance with the Whistleblowers Protection Act 
State	Trustees	encourages	staff	to	report	known	or	
suspected incidences of improper conduct or detrimental 
actions. We have procedures to protect from reprisals 
a person who makes a disclosure and to properly 
investigate and deal with any disclosures.

Our procedures include disclosure mechanisms,  
and	confidentiality	provisions	that	guide	the	roles	 
and responsibilities of designated protected disclosure  
co-ordinators,	protected	disclosure	officers,	
investigators, and welfare managers. We regularly  
remind	staff	of	the	Whistleblowers’	legislation	 
and procedures. 

There were no complaints made under the Whistleblowers 
Protection Act 2001 in the reporting period. 

Protected Disclosures Act 2012 (Vic)  
February 11 2013 onwards 
State Trustees is reviewing its policies and procedures  
to	reflect	the	changes	the	Act	introduces.	State	Trustees	
will have these in place by the required date of August 
10, 2013. State Trustees will make available its Protected 
Disclosure Policy via the State Trustees website  
(www.statetrustees.com.au).

Under the Protected Disclosures Act 2012 (Vic) State 
Trustees is a body that cannot accept disclosures of 
improper conduct. State Trustees is a body about which 
disclosures of improper conduct can be made. A person 
wanting to make a disclosure of improper conduct about 
State Trustees or its employees must do so to IBAC. 

IBAC Contact Details 
Phone: 1300 735 135 
Fax: (03) 8635 6444 
Mail: IBAC, GPO BOX 24234,  
MELBOURNE, VIC, 3000  
Web: www.ibac.vic.gov.au
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3.5 Environmental activities

State	Trustees	is	not	subject	to	any	significant	
environmental regulations. However, we are committed 
to achieving a high standard of environmentally friendly 
performance. We have a number of initiatives that aim  
to reduce our environmental impact. 

These include:

•	 Maintaining	a	paper	and	waste	recycling	program;

•	 Using	low	energy/high	light	output	fittings;

•	 Saving	water	by	implementing	dual-flush	cisterns;

•	 Undertaking	a	cartridge	recycling	program	for	all	
printer	and	photocopier	toners;

•	 Using	laser	printers	and	multi-function	printer/copiers	
with	energy	saving	features;

•	 Deploying	secure	“no-waste”	security	card	laser	
printers whereby print jobs are only printed at time 
of	collection,	reducing	paper	usage	significantly	and	
almost	completely	eliminating	wasted	printing;

•	 Disposing	of	light	tubes	via	the	EPA	waste	
management	system;

•	 Having	our	motor	vehicle	fleet	comprising	35%	 
hybrid	vehicles;	and

•	 All	personal	computers	having	in-house	developed	
auto-off	energy	saving	control	software.

The Board is not aware of any breaches of its 
environmental practices during the period covered  
by this report.

4 Stewardship

4.1 State Trustees’ main functions

State Trustees’ main functions, established under the 
State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act, are to 
provide Victorians with:

•	 Trustee	services	for	government	and	individuals;

•	 Personal	administration	services;

•	 Deceased	estate	administration;

•	 Specialised	legal,	financial	and	tax	services	including	
Will writing, establishing Powers of Attorney, 
Financial Planning, managing compensation funds, 
Genealogy	Services,	and	Trust	Administration;	and

•	 Funds	management	services	and	investment	products.

4.2 Represented persons

The VCAT Guardianship List appoints State Trustees as 
an	administrator	for	the	legal	and	financial	affairs	of	
people who are deemed unable to make reasonable 
judgements	in	respect	of	their	affairs	due	to	disability	 
or mental illness.

State	Trustees	currently	administers	the	financial	 
and	legal	affairs	of	approximately	9500	represented	
people, managing their assets with a cumulative value 
in excess of $1 billion. 

VCAT’s Guardianship List started in July 1998, replacing 
the former Guardianship and Administration Board. 
The Tribunal and the Office of the Public Advocate 
both play a crucial role in determining whether a 
person needs an administrator.

Any person may apply to VCAT seeking the appointment 
of an administrator. They may nominate a person 
such as a family member, friend, accountant, solicitor, 
State Trustees, or a private trustee company who they 
consider could undertake the role. The Public Advocate 
may also apply to the Tribunal to appoint a guardian or 
administrator, or to review appointment arrangements.

In cases where the applicant doesn’t nominate 
an administrator, or VCAT considers the nominee 
unsuitable	-	for	example,	where	there	is	significant	
family	conflict	-	VCAT	may	appoint	State	Trustees	or	
another suitable administrator.



Subject to the Guardianship and Administration  
Act 1986 (Vic) and the administration order,  
an administrator:

•	 Is	responsible	for	managing	the	represented	
person’s	estate;

•	 Takes	possession	and	care	of,	recovers,	collects,	
preserves, and administers the property and estate, 
and generally manages the represented person’s 
financial	and	legal	affairs;	and

•	 Exercises	all	rights	relating	to	the	estate	that	 
the represented person might exercise if they  
had legal capacity.

In exercising such wide powers, the legislation requires 
administrators to act in the represented person’s best 
interests. As administrator, we take into account the 
represented person’s wishes and try to encourage and 
help them to become capable of administering their 
own estate wherever possible.

Functions of an administrator 
Typically, an administrator performs the following 
functions on behalf of a represented person:

•	 Prepares	and	periodically	reviews	their	financial	 
plan	and	budget;

•	 Manages	real	estate	and	other	assets;

•	 Collects	income	including	ensuring	they	receive	 
all	of	their	entitlements;

•	 Manages	liabilities	and	pays	accounts	as	they	fall	due;

•	 Attends	to	taxation	matters;

•	 Helps	them	accumulate	savings	to	enable	them	
achieve	their	aspirations;

•	 Invests	available	funds;	and

•	 Manages	legal	and	associated	issues.

Community Services Agreement 
State	Trustees	works	hard	to	provide	an	efficient	
operating base but many represented persons have 
few assets and therefore are serviced from lower value 
estates which operate at a loss to the company despite 
this	efficiency	focus.

In adopting a commercial practice, a company would 
not normally accept administrator appointments in 
circumstances where it would incur a loss. However, 
as	a	State-owned	company	and	public	trustee,	State	
Trustees is required to perform its functions for public 
benefit	by:

•	 Operating	its	business	as	efficiently	as	possible	
consistent	with	prudent	commercial	practice;	and

•	 Maximising	its	contribution	to	the	economy	and	the	
State’s wellbeing.

For this reason, agreements have been in place between 
State Trustees and the Minister responsible for the 
Department of Human Services since July 1994.  
The agreements cover services to a range of State Trustees’ 
clients	that	are	provided	on	a	non-commercial	level.

Some government funding is provided to State Trustees 
as part of this agreement and services are provided 
under legislation that includes the State Trustees (State 
Owned Company) Act, Administration and Probate Act 
1958 (Vic), Trustee Act 1958 (Vic), and Guardianship and 
Administration Act 1986 (Vic).

In 2012/13, State Trustees received income of  
$15.4 million under the agreement. A new agreement 
has been negotiated and further work will be 
undertaken in the coming years to achieve an  
outcome that is satisfactory for all involved.
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Service improvements 
Over the past decade or so, we have implemented 
numerous improvements to client services. Recent 
highlights include:

•	 Opening	new	service	centres	in	Dandenong	and	
Bendigo and providing regional outreach and 
education	sessions;

•	 Introducing	The	Victorian	Will	Bank	and	State	
Trustees	Legal	Will	Kit;

•	 Establishing	a	stronger	presence	at	the	Victorian	
Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) to provide 
immediate access to services for our clients, VCAT 
applicants,	and	Tribunal	members;

•	 Enhancing	client	communication	by	providing	
regular service information to clients and the 
broader community and seeking client feedback on 
service	provided;

•	 Appointing	a	client	relations	officer	to	deal	formally	
with	any	complaints	received;

•	 Developing	new	information	systems	to	improve	
service	delivery	efficiency,	particularly	in	managing	
clients’	financial	affairs	and	file	management;

•	 Establishing	the	Financial	Independence	Program	
and	Intensive	Support	Program;	and

•	 Undertaking	a	major	review	of	our	corporate	
operations and service delivery models to maximise 
efficiency,	minimise	costs	and	provide	consistent	
service levels that meet our Community Services 
Agreement obligations and requirements of the 
Guardianship and Administration Act.

We	take	the	stewardship	of	our	clients’	affairs	seriously.	
We choose our consultants carefully to ensure they are 
empathetic to clients’ needs and we strive to act in our 
clients’ best interests at all times, empowering clients 
towards greater independence wherever possible.

4.3 Compliance and risk management

Risk management 
The Board oversees State Trustees’ risk management 
and compliance framework. We have a management 
framework for assessing, monitoring, and managing 
operational	activities,	financial	reporting,	and	
compliance risks.

Our risk management framework is structured and 
transparent. Built on the Risk Management Standard 
AS/NZS 31000:2009, it allows us to identify, assess,  
and manage risk across the company systematically  
and consistently.

The framework also defines reporting processes  
to manage exposures at an appropriate level across  
the organisation.

The Managing Director and key senior managers 
make up the Risk Committee of Management, which 
is	responsible	for	supporting	the	Board	in	fulfilling	
its oversight responsibilities relating to identifying, 
assessing, and managing risk, and adhering to internal 
risk management policies and procedures. In this role, 
the committee has delegated authority from the Board 
to approve and oversee risk management processes.

Working with the Executive and senior management, 
the compliance and risk management team helps 
management mitigate risks by identifying business 
risks and controls. The team also monitors and regularly 
reports to both the Board and management on the 
status of risk across the organisation.

All	staff	are	trained	to	understand	their	compliance	
responsibilities and the processes and policies for 
reporting and rectifying breaches.



Compliance and control 
State Trustees is committed to meeting strong 
compliance and ethical standards. Our Compliance  
Policy guides us in meeting our ongoing and 
continuously changing compliance requirements  
and obligations.

The policy, which overarches our annual 
Organisational Compliance Plan, reflects the 
Company’s commitment to compliance. We developed 
this policy to meet the standards in Australian 
Standard AS3806 – Compliance Programs.

To	help	us	more	effectively	manage	our	financial	
services compliance responsibilities, we have a 
management committee titled the Australian Financial 
Services (AFS) Licence Committee. This committee 
reviews and monitors ongoing compliance with AFS 
licence obligations.

The committee’s key responsibilities include: 

•	 Reviewing	key	risks	to	compliance	with	AFS	 
licence obligations,

•	 Resolving	AFS	licence	issues	and	informing	 
the Managing Director of risk discussions  
and outcomes, and

•	 Assessing	materiality	of	compliance	breaches	and	
recommending remedial action according to our 
Breaches Policy and Procedures.

Fraud control 
State Trustees has a number of management systems, 
process controls, training and procedures directed at 
preventing or minimising the risk of fraud.

The Risk Committee of Management oversees and 
reviews	any	investigation,	then	reports	its	findings	
and recommendations to the Managing Director. All 
instances of fraud must be reported to State Trustees’ 
Audit Committee.

Business continuity planning 
State Trustees has a Business Continuity Plan which is 
a framework designed to ensure that critical processes 
continue if a serious unplanned event occurs that may 
disrupt the business.

5 Leadership 

5.1 Board of Directors

Board composition 
As a State Owned Enterprise, State Trustees is owned 
by the State of Victoria who, through the Treasurer as its 
representative, determines the composition of the State 
Trustees Board.

Details of the Board members, their experience, 
expertise,	qualifications,	terms	of	office,	and	
independent status are set out in the Board of Directors 
section of the Directors’ Report.

There	are	five	non-executive	directors	and	one	executive	
director at the date of signing the Directors’ Report.

The Board seeks to ensure that:

•	 At	any	point	in	time,	its	membership	represents	
an appropriate balance between Directors with 
experience and knowledge of the Company, and 
Directors	with	an	external	or	fresh	perspective;	and

•	 The	Board’s	size	is	conducive	to	effective	discussion	
and	efficient	decision-making.

The Board’s guiding principles 
The Board operates according to the broad principles 
set out in its charter, which details the Board’s role, 
composition, and responsibilities. These are additional 
to the Company’s Constitution. 

The Company Secretary reviews the Board of Directors’ 
Charter at least annually and the Board receives 
recommended changes for its approval. 

The Company Secretary and the management 
representative responsible for preparing the relevant 
committee’s papers review each committee’s charter at 
least annually.

Any recommended changes to committee charters 
are submitted to the respective committees, and any 
changes that are approved are then submitted to the 
Board for its approval.
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Chairman and Managing Director 
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, 
ensuring Directors are properly briefed in all matters 
relevant to their role and responsibilities, facilitating 
Board discussions, and managing the Board’s 
relationship with the Company’s senior executives.

The Managing Director is responsible for implementing 
group strategies and policies.

The	Board	Charter	specifies	that	the	roles	of	Chairman	and	
Managing Director are not to be held by the same person.

The Board’s role 
The Board’s role is to provide strategic guidance to the 
Company	within	a	framework	of	prudent	and	effective	
controls that enables risk to be assessed and managed. 

The Board:

•	 Sets	the	Company’s	strategic	aims;

•	 Ensures	that	the	necessary	financial	and	human	
resources are in place for the Company to meet  
its	objectives;

•	 Reviews	management	performance;

•	 Sets	the	Company’s	values	and	standards;	and

•	 Ensures	that	the	Company	understands	and	meets	
its obligations to stakeholders.

The Board has delegated responsibility for operating 
and administering State Trustees to the Managing 
Director, the Corporate Leadership Team, and senior 
management. Responsibilities are delineated by formal 
authority delegations.

Independent professional advice and access  
to Company information 
Each Director has the right to access all relevant State 
Trustees’ executives and information and, subject 
to prior consultation with the Chairman, may seek 
independent professional advice from a suitably 
qualified	adviser	at	the	Company’s	expense.

Board processes 
The full Board held nine meetings in the year, plus 
strategy and extraordinary meetings as needed to 
address	specific	significant	matters	that	may	arise.

During July and January, when formal Board meetings 
were not scheduled, Directors received update reports 
from	the	Managing	Director	and	Chief	Financial	Officer.

The Chairman, Managing Director and Company 
Secretary prepare meeting agendas. Standing items 
include the Managing Director’s report, updates 
from	Board	Committee	meetings,	financial	reports,	
strategic matters, governance, risk management and 
compliance. All Directors receive Board papers at least 
five	business	days	before	meetings.	Executives	are	
regularly involved in Board discussions and Directors 
have other opportunities for contact with a wider group 
of employees.

Conflicts	of	interest	are	declared	and	noted	at	each	
Board meeting. Directors make declarations of private 
interests to Government annually with changes noted 
and declared at each Board meeting.

Governance review 
The Company, the Board and its Committees continue 
to monitor governance arrangements on an ongoing 
basis. The Board intends to undertake another external 
review in 2013/14.

Continuing professional development 
The Board has a Continuing Professional Development 
(CPD) Policy to encourage its Directors to further 
develop	their	skills	and	expertise	through	high-quality	
learning and professional development opportunities.



5.2 Board Committees

The Board has established a number of committees 
to help it perform its duties and allow detailed 
consideration of complex issues. Its current standing 
committees are the Audit, Business Transformation, 
Compliance, Investment, and Remuneration 
Committees, as well as the State Trustees Australia 
Foundation (STAF) Advisory Committee. 

Generally, committee structures and membership are 
reviewed annually. In the case of the STAF Advisory 
Committee, members who are not State Trustees’ 
representatives are appointed for three years.

Each Committee has its own written charter setting out 
its roles and responsibilities, composition, structure, 
membership requirements, and the manner in which the 
Committee operates. We review these charters annually. 
We also regularly review the chairmen and members of 
each committee as part of normal Board governance. 

The Board and all the Committees (except STAF Advisory 
Committee) have at least one closed session each year 
without management being present. 

All Board Committees have authority, within the scope 
of their responsibilities, to seek any information they 
require from any employee or external party. They may 
also undertake any other activities consistent with 
their charters.

The number of times each committee met during the 
year, and committee members’ attendance record, 
are disclosed in the table of Directors’ meetings in the 
Directors’ Report.

Audit Committee 
The	Audit	Committee	comprised	four	non-executive	
directors as at 30 June 2013. The Committee’s Chairman 
is Patrick Burroughs, and its members are Julie Elliott, 
Lindsay Smith and Dr Irene Irvine. The Managing Director, 
Tony Fitzgerald, attends each meeting by invitation, but is 
not a member of the committee.

The Audit Committee, at its discretion, invites the 
internal and external auditors, Managing Director, 
General Manager Corporate Operations, and Chief 
Financial	Officer	to	attend	its	meetings.

The Committee advises on establishing and 
maintaining a framework of internal control for 
managing State Trustees.

The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the 
internal audit program conducted each year.

The internal auditors help the Board ensure compliance 
with internal controls and risk management programs 
by regularly reviewing how well the compliance and 
control systems function.

The Audit Committee also meets annually with the 
internal and external auditors without management 
being present.

The	Auditor-General	is	the	organisation’s	official	
external auditor, but he has contracted State Trustees’ 
external audit to HLB Mann Judd.

The Company outsources the internal audit function  
to BDO East Coast Partnership.

The Audit Committee:

•	 Oversees	financial	reporting,	statutory	accounts	and	
corporate	accounting	policies;

•	 Reviews,	approves	and	monitors	the	system	of	
internal	controls;

•	 Reviews	the	external	audit	plan;	and

•	 In	conjunction	with	the	Compliance	Committee,	 
sets an internal audit program.
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Business Transformation Committee 
The Business Transformation Committee completed 
its	first	full	year	of	operation	this	year.	The	committee	
is chaired by Julie Elliott and members are Patrick 
Burroughs and Tony Fitzgerald. In accordance with the 
agreed calendar, it reviews the results and progress of the 
Business	Transformation	Office,	established	to	complete	
a series of transformational business projects during the 
year. The Committee met seven times in 2012/13.

Under its charter, the Committee acts as Delegate 
of the Board in relation to the approved Business 
Transformation Program, including:

•	 Making	decisions	to	give	effect	to	the	various	projects;

•	 Overseeing	the	implementation	of	projects;

•	 Assessing	and	monitoring	business	risks	as	they	
relate	to	the	program;	and

•	 Providing	guidance	to	management.

Compliance Committee 
Compliance	Committee	comprises	three	non-executive	
Directors and one executive Director as at 30 June 2013. 
The Committee’s Chairman is Dr Irene Irvine  
and its members are Julie Elliott, Tony Fitzgerald  
and Dino Georgiou.

Under its charter, the Committee reviews State Trustees’ 
compliance with relevant legislative, regulatory 
and contractual obligations, reviews and monitors 
how State Trustees’ overall compliance framework 
is maintained and implemented, and assesses and 
monitors business risks as they relate to compliance.

The Compliance Committee’s main responsibilities include:

•	 Reviewing	management	compliance	reports	 
and monitoring management responses to 
compliance	issues;

•	 Meeting	with	the	managed	investments	compliance	
plan	auditors;

•	 Monitoring	the	effectiveness	and	completeness	of	
compliance	reporting;

•	 Monitoring	and	overseeing	compliance	with	relevant	
legislative, regulatory, and contractual obligations 
(of	a	non-financial	or	non-accounting	nature);

•	 Reviewing	and	approving	the	process	used	to	identify,	
monitor,	and	manage	compliance-related	risks;

•	 Ensuring	that	where	compliance	breaches	are	
identified,	appropriate	and	timely	reporting	
occurs	and	appropriate	rectification	strategies	are	
implemented	on	a	timely	basis;	and

•	 Reviewing	and	approving	the	design	of	the	annual	
compliance program.



Investment Committee 
The Investment Committee comprises three  
non-executive	Directors	and	one	executive	Director.	
The Committee’s Acting Chairman is Julie Elliott and 
its members are Tony Fitzgerald, Dino Georgiou and 
Bobby Guttmann.

The Investment Committee’s main  
responsibilities include:

•	 Overseeing	the	actions	of	management	in	relation	
to State Trustees’ investment funds, other than for:

	 -	 Financial	accounting	and	reporting

	 -	 Compliance	with	regulatory	requirements	and	
unit pricing policies

	 -	 Compliance	by	the	custodian	with	its	contractual	
obligations which are the responsibility of the 
Audit	or	Compliance	Committees;

•	 Overseeing	management’s	supervision	of	appointed	
external	investment	advisors;	and

•	 Considering	on	an	annual	basis,	taking	into	account	
the views of the Compliance Committee in relation 
to compliance issues, the suitability of the appointed 
external service provider to continue to provide 
custodian and investment administration services 
for the investments.

Remuneration Committee 
The	Remuneration	Committee	comprises	three	Non-
Executive Directors. The Committee Chair is Julie Elliott, 
with Patrick Burroughs and Bobby Guttmann. The 
Managing Director, Tony Fitzgerald, attends each meeting 
by invitation, but is not a member of the Committee.

The Remuneration Committee operates according to its 
charter. It advises the Board on general remuneration 
and incentive policies and practices, and makes 
specific	recommendations	on	remuneration	packages	
and other employment terms for the Managing 
Director and other senior executives. Remuneration 
of executives, including the Managing Director, is 
determined with reference to the Government Sector 
Executive Remuneration Panel (GSERP). The Committee 
also makes recommendations to the Board on 
superannuation arrangements.

State Trustees Australia Foundation (STAF) 
Advisory Committee 
The Committee’s Chairman is Lindsay Smith and its 
current members are Tony Fitzgerald, Robert Knowles 
AO,	Lawrence	St	Leger	and	Kristin	Stegley	OAM;	three	
non-director	members	with	a	strong	background	in	
community services and philanthropy. 

The role of the STAF Advisory Committee, which meets 
at least once a year, is to recommend how the STAF 
income	should	be	distributed	to,	or	benefit,	eligible	
charitable recipients. Grants for this purpose are 
generated from income earned on donations where the 
donors have not made binding directions for grants to 
specific	charities.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013

  Consolidated entity
  2013 2012
  $000s $000s
ASSETS Notes  

Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 5 12,149 8,040

Receivables 6 9,845 11,769

Investments in managed investments  18 7,805 5,945

Advances to clients  3,025 2,999

Property	–	Held	for	Sale	 7	 17,000	 -

Prepayments   1,155 1,813

Income	Tax	Equivalent	 	 -	 49

Total current assets  50,979 30,615

Non-current	assets	 	 	

Property, plant, and equipment 8 13,165 29,277

Deferred tax assets 4 3,987 3,853

Total non-current assets  17,152 33,130

Total assets  68,131 63,745

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities   

Payables 10 9,246 5,920

Income	tax	equivalent		 	 401	 -

Provisions 13 142 34

Employee entitlements  6,077 6,454

Total current liabilities  15,866 12,408

Non-current	liabilities	 	 	

Deferred tax liabilities 4 667 696

Provisions 13 223 3

Employee entitlements  1,195 1,584

Total non-current liabilities  2,085 2,283

Total liabilities  17,951 14,691

Net assets  50,180 49,054

EQUITY   
Contributed equity 11 17,361 16,328

Reserves 9 22,359 23,587

Retained	profits	 	 10,460	 9,139

Total equity  50,180  49,054

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2013

  Consolidated entity
  2013 2012
  $000s $000s
Revenue from continuing operations Notes  
Commissions and fees  46,245 45,764

Community Service Obligation revenue  15,419 15,364

Regionalisation Transition Funding  2,927 1,010

Other operating revenue 3 920 1,163

Total revenue  65,511 63,301

Expenses from continuing operations   
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 3,126 3,023

Lease rental charges – operating leases  1,797 1,027

Audit expenses 20 194 154

Employee	benefits	expense	 	 44,983	 45,412

Other expenses 3 13,842 12,965

Total expenses  63,942 62,581

Profit from continuing operations  
before income tax equivalent  1,569 720

Income tax equivalent expense 4 477 600

Net profit   1,092 120

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently  
to Profit or Loss:
Fair value revaluation of land and buildings  (1,028) 1,717

Income tax equivalent (expense)  29 (87)

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax   (999) 1,630

Total comprehensive income for the period   93 1,750
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2013

   Consolidated entity 2013
 Contributed  Asset Retained General Total 
 Equity Revaluation Earnings Reserve 
  Reserve
 $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

Total equity at the start of the  
financial year 16,328 13,940 9,139 9,647 49,054

Profit	for	the	period		 -	 -	 1,092	 -	 1,092

Other	Comprehensive	income	 -	 (999)	 -	 -	 (999)

Total Comprehensive income for the period - (999) 1,092 - 93

Transactions with owners  
in their capacity as owners     

Contribution	from	Owners	 1,033	 -	 -	 -	 1,033

Profits	transferred	to	/	from	General	Reserve	 -	 -	 229	 (229)	 -

As at 30 June 2013 17,361 12,941 10,460 9,418 50,180

Consolidated entity 2013 Contributed  Asset Retained General Total 
 Equity Revaluation Earnings Reserve 
  Reserve
 $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

Total equity at the start of the financial year 13,102 12,310 9,259 9,407 44,078

Profit	for	the	period		 -	 -	 120	 -	 120

Other	Comprehensive	income	 -	 1,630	 -	 -	 1,630

Total Comprehensive income for the period - 1,630 120 - 1,750

Transactions with owners in their  
capacity as owners     

Contribution	from	Owners	 3,226	 -	 -	 -	 3,226

Profits	transferred	to	/	from	General	Reserve	 -	 -	 (240)	 240	 -

As at 30 June 2012 16,328 13,940 9,139 9,647 49,054
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2013

  Consolidated entity
  2013 2012
 Notes $000s $000s

Cash flows from operating activities   
Commissions and fees received  46,226 46,746

Community Service Obligation income received  15,165 15,364

Regionalisation Transitional Funding  3,282 934

Corporate Investment Income  509 997

Payments to suppliers and employees  (57,425) (59,367)

Payments of income tax equivalent  (190) (158)

Net cash flows from operating activities 14 7,567 4,516

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities	 	 	

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment  73 42

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment  (5,098) (4,076)

Proceeds from redemption of interests in managed  
investment schemes  514 7,037

Payments for interests in managed investment schemes  (2,052) (1,753)

Net cash flows from investing activities  (6,563) 1,250

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities	 	 	

Contribution from Owners  3,105 1,447

Dividends	paid	 	 -	 -

Net cash flows from financing activities  3,105 1,447
Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  4,109 7,213
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the financial year  8,040 827

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 5 12,149 8,040

The above statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 1. Corporate information  
The financial report of State Trustees Limited (the 
Company) for the year ended 30 June 2013 was 
authorised for issuance in accordance with a resolution 
of the Directors on 27 August 2013. 

State	Trustees	Limited	is	a	State-owned	company,	
which has been classified as a for profit entity.  
The State of Victoria is the sole shareholder.

The nature of the operations and principal activities  
of the Group are described in the Directors’ report. 

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Basis of preparation  
The	financial	report	is	a	general	purpose	financial	
report, which has been prepared in accordance with  
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, 
Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting	Standards	Board.	The	financial	report	has	
also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except  
for	land	and	buildings	and	financial	assets	and	liabilities	
held	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	which	have	been	
measured at fair value. 

The	financial	report	is	presented	in	Australian	dollars	
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
($000) dollars unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Compliance with IFRS 
The	financial	report	complies	with	International	
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

(b) Principles of consolidation 
This	is	the	consolidated	financial	statements	for	State	
Trustees Limited and its controlled entity collectively 
referred	to	as	the	“Group”.	The	Statement	of	Financial	
Position of the Parent is disclosed in note 15.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,  
all intercompany balances and transactions, income 
and expenses and profit and losses resulting from  
intra-Group	transactions	have	been	eliminated	in	full.

Each subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is obtained by the Group and cease 
to be consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred out of the Group.

(c) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable to the extent it 
is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	will	flow	to	the	
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The 
following	specific	recognition	criteria	must	also	be	met	
before revenue is recognised: 

Commissions and fees 
Commissions and fees are charged and earned pursuant 
to the published schedule of fees. Revenue is recognised 
on an accruals basis when the service is provided.

Community Services Agreement (CSA) revenue 
Revenue is received from the State of Victoria under 
the Community Services Agreement. This revenue is 
based	on	State	Trustees	providing	financial	services	
management	to	the	community	as	defined	by	the	
agreement, and is recognised on an accruals basis 
when the service is provided.

Grant income  
Under the requirements of AASB 120: Accounting  
for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance, Funding is treated as income in the same 
period as the relevant expenses recorded in the 
income statement.

Interest revenue 
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using 
the	effective	interest	method.	This	is	a	method	of	
calculating	the	amortised	cost	of	a	financial	asset	and	
allocating the interest income over the relevant period 
using	the	effective	interest	rate.	This	rate	discounts	the	
estimated future cash receipts through the expected 
life	of	the	financial	asset	to	the	net	carrying	amount	 
of	the	financial	asset.

Dividends and Trust Distributions 
Dividends and Trust Distributions are recognised when 
the right to receive the payment is established.
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(d) Impairment of assets 
State Trustees Limited conducts an annual internal 
review of asset values, which is used as a source of 
information to assess for any indicators of impairment. 
External factors, such as changes in expected future 
processes, technology and economic conditions, are 
also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment. 
If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate 
of the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value, less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable	cash	inflows	that	are	largely	independent	of	
the	cash	inflows	from	other	assets	or	groups	of	assets	
(cash-generating	units).	

(e) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	in	the	statement	of	financial	
position	and	cash	flow	statement	comprise	cash	at	
bank,	cash	in	hand	and	short-term	deposits	with	an	
original maturity of three months or less, that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	of	change	in	value.

(f) Receivables 
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using	the	effective	interest	method,	less	an	allowance	
for impairment. 

Collectability of receivables are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis at an operating unit level. Individual debts that are 
known	to	be	uncollectible	are	written	off	when	identified.	
An impairment provision is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that the Group may not be able to 
collect	the	receivable.	Financial	difficulties	of	the	debtor,	
default payments or debts more than 60 days overdue 
are considered objective evidence of impairment.

Cash	flows	relating	to	short-term	receivables	are	not	
discounted	where	the	effect	of	discounting	is	immaterial.	

Advances to clients are subject to an approval process 
prior to issue and are periodically reviewed for 
impairment by divisional management.

 

(g) Investments and other financial assets

Recognition and derecognition 
Investments	in	financial	assets	are	recognised	initially	at	
fair	value.	All	purchases	and	sales	of	financial	assets	are	
recognised on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group 
commits to purchase the asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised	when	the	right	to	receive	cash	flows	from	
the	financial	assets	have	expired	or	been	transferred.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
Financial	Assets	are	classified	at	fair	value	through	
profit	or	loss.	Gains	or	losses	on	financial	assets	are	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	and	the	related	assets	are	
classified	as	current	assets	in	the	Statement	of	Financial	
Position.	These	financial	assets	are	designated	on	the	
basis	that	they	are	a	group	of	financial	assets	which	are	
managed and have their performance evaluated on a 
fair value basis in accordance with the risk management 
and investment strategies of the Group as disclosed 
in	Note	21.	The	Group’s	financial	assets	consist	of	
investments in unlisted trusts which are valued at the 
redemption value per unit as reported by the manager 
of the investments. 

Receivables 
Receivables are recorded at amortised cost, using 
the	effective	interest	method	less	impairment.	They	
are included in current assets, except for those with 
maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, 
which	are	classified	as	non-current.

Controlled unlisted companies 
Investments in controlled unlisted companies are 
measured at cost and impairment is tested annually.

(h) Property – Held for Sale 
The business has entered into a commercial in 
confidence	agreement	on	the	18th	July	2013	to	dispose	
of	the	land	and	buildings	in	relation	to	our	head	office	
premises with the settlement scheduled to occur on the 
18th September 2013.

The	land	and	buildings	have	been	re-classified	from	
a	Non-Current	Asset	in	2011/12	to	a	Current	Asset	
classified	as	held	for	sale	in	2012/13.

Land and buildings are measured at fair value, based 
on periodic but at least triennial valuations by external 
independent valuers, less accumulated depreciation on 
buildings and less any impairment losses recognised 
after the date of the revaluation.

Depreciation	is	calculated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	
the estimated useful life of the building (34 years).



Land and building revaluations  
Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset 
revaluation reserve included in equity, except to the 
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrement for the 
same	asset	previously	recognised	in	profit	or	loss,	in	
which	case	the	increment	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Any	revaluation	decrement	is	recognised	in	profit	or	
loss,	except	to	the	extent	that	it	offsets	a	previous	
revaluation increment for the same asset, in which 
case the decrement is debited directly to the asset 
revaluation reserve to the extent of the credit balance 
existing in the revaluation reserve for that asset.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation 
date is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts 
of the assets and the net amounts are restated to the 
revalued amounts of the assets.

Disposal 
An item of property, plant, and equipment is derecognised 
on disposal or when we can expect no further future 
economic	benefits	from	its	use	or	disposal.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are 
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve 
relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred 
to retained earnings.

(i) Property, plant, and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost of 
replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when 
the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, 
when each major inspection is performed, its cost is 
recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and 
equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for 
capitalisation. All other repairs and maintenance are 
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	as	incurred.

Depreciation	is	calculated	on	a	straight-line	basis	 
over the estimated useful life of the specific assets  
as follows:

Leasehold improvements  Lease term

Furniture and fittings  13 years
Computers  4 years
Office equipment 7 years
Telephone system  5 years
System development  3 years
Motor vehicles  5 years

There has been no change to depreciation rates.

System	development	costs	that	will	produce	long-term	
company	benefits	are	amortised	and	depreciated	over	
the asset’s useful life. The assets’ residual values, useful 
lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and 
adjusted	if	appropriate,	at	each	financial	year-end.

Disposal 
An item of property, plant, and equipment is derecognised 
on disposal or when we can expect no further future 
economic	benefits	from	its	use	or	disposal.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve 
relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred 
to retained earnings.

(j) Payables 
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost 
due to their short term nature they are not discounted. 
They represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to	the	Group	prior	to	the	end	of	the	financial	year	that	
are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged 
to make future payments in respect of the purchase of 
these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(k) Employee benefits and provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a	past	event,	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	
embodying	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting	date	using	a	discounted	cash	flow	
methodology.	The	risks	specific	to	the	provision	are	
factored	into	the	cash	flows	and	as	such	a	risk-free	
government bond rate relative to the expected life of 
the provision is used as a discount rate.

Management have changed the method for calculating 
the	employee	benefits	expense	accrual	during	
the	2012/13	financial	year	due	to	changes	to	the	
accounting standard AASB 119: Employee Benefits.

Management have decided to early adopt this standard 
for	the	2012/13	financial	year.	The	standard	was	due	
to commence for reporting periods commencing on or 
after the 1st January 2013.
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Previous Accounting Policy 
Employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities	for	wages	and	salaries,	including	non-monetary	
benefits	and	annual	leave	expected	to	be	settled	within	
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in 
respect of employees' services up to the reporting date. 
They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised and 
measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures, and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the reporting date on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currencies that match, as closely as possible,  
the	estimated	future	cash	outflows.

Change in Accounting Policy 
Employee benefits

(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities	for	wages	and	salaries,	including	non-monetary	
benefits	and	annual	leave	expected	to	be	wholly	settled	
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised 
in respect of employees' services up to the reporting 
date. They are measured at the amounts expected to  
be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised and 
measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures, and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the reporting date on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currencies that match, as closely as possible,  
the	estimated	future	cash	outflows.

(iii) Annual leave (expected to be settled greater 
than 12 months) 
The liability for annual leave that is expected to be 
settled greater than 12 months of the reporting date 
is recognised as a current liability and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date.

Consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, based upon current company annual 
leave policy and directions imposed by management in 
terms of leave utilisation. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currencies that match, as closely as possible, the future 
cash	outflows.

Impact upon the 2012/13 Financial Statements 
The	company’s	short-term	benefits	have	been	amended	
for both annual leave and long service leave in accordance 
with	the	standard.	These	changes	were	reflected	in	
the	June	2013	financial	year	accounts	for	the	2012/13	
financial	year	with	the	following	financial	impact:

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Employee	benefits	expense	increased	by	$271,000

Statement of Financial Position 
Current Employee Entitlements Liability increased 
by $271,000 

(l) Accounting for the goods and services tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
GST except where the GST incurred is not recoverable. 
In this case, it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or part of the expense item  
as applicable. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash	flows	are	included	in	the	Cash	Flow	Statement	
on	a	gross	basis	and	the	GST	component	of	cash	flows	
arising	from	investing	and	financing	activities,	which	is	
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is	classified	as	part	of	operating	cash	flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of 
the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to the 
taxation authority.



(m) Income tax

Income Tax Equivalent 
State	Trustees	Limited	is	a	state	government-	owned	
entity listed on the register of the National Tax 
Equivalent Regime. As such, it is required to account for 
its taxation liabilities in accordance with the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1936, and the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1997 as required. 

It pays tax as calculated in accordance with the 
respective taxation legislation to the Victorian 
Government Consolidated Fund.

Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities 
The calculation of deferred tax assets/liabilities are 
measured in accordance with Accounting Standard 
AASB 112. As such, State Trustees Limited accounts for 
the tax consequences of transactions and other events 
in the same way that it accounts for the transactions 
and other events themselves. Thus, for transactions 
recognised	in	profit	or	loss,	related	tax	effects	are	also	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	For	transactions	and	other	
events recognised directly in equity, any related tax 
effects	are	also	recognised	in	equity.

A deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability will be 
recognised	for	all	temporary	differences	that	arise	for	
the	difference	between	the	carrying	value	of	the	asset	
or liability and its tax value. 

Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes 
recoverable in future periods in respect of deductible 
temporary	differences,	the	carry	forward	of	unused	
tax losses and the carry forward of unused tax credits. 
A deferred tax asset shall be recognised for the carry 
forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits 
to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	profit	will	
be available against which the unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are amounts of income taxes 
payable in future periods in respect of taxable 
temporary	differences.	

Tax Consolidation 
State Trustees Limited has formed an income tax 
consolidated group consisting of State Trustees Limited 
(STL) and STL Financial Services Limited (STLFSL). STL is 
the head entity of the tax consolidated group.

The entities within the tax consolidated group have 
entered into a tax funding arrangement and a  
tax-sharing	agreement	with	the	head	entity.	Under	
the terms of the tax funding arrangement, STLFSL has 
agreed to pay/receive a tax equivalent payment to or 
from STL based on the current tax asset or liability of 
the entity. Such amounts are reflected in amounts 
receivable from or payable to the other entity in the  
tax consolidated group.

The tax sharing agreement entered into between the 
members of the tax consolidated group provides for 
the determination of the allocation of income tax 
liabilities between the entities should STL default on 
its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been 
recognised	in	the	financial	statements	in	respect	of	this	
agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax 
sharing agreement is considered remote. 

(n) Executor Services Capital Commission  
revenue accrual 
Commission is accrued over the estate service period. 
Revenue is recognised on a proportionate basis, during 
the estate service period based on work performed 
in	line	with	the	defined	milestones	that	result	in	the	
settlement of the estate. Our benchmarks for this 
are 31 weeks for a low value estate to 39 weeks for a 
standard/complex estate. The time taken to administer 
an estate can vary due to legal or other circumstances. 
The fees and charges vary due to the estimates used for 
estate values and commission rates through the estate 
service period. 

(o) Contributed equity 
Ordinary	shares	of	the	company	are	classified	as	equity,	
government contribution received/receivable for which 
Department	of	Treasury	and	Finance	made	a	specific	
designation as contribution from owners are treated  
as capital contribution without issuing shares.

(p) Operating leases 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income  
on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	lease	term.
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(q) New accounting standards and interpretations

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Presentation of Other Comprehensive 
Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 
1030 & 1049] (Effective 1 July 2012): 
This standard requires entities to group items presented 
in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether 
they	might	be	reclassified	subsequently	to	profit	or	loss	
and those that will not.

Management does not expect this will have a 
significant	impact	upon	the	financial	statements.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits (Early Adopted 
effective 1 July 2012): 
The main change introduced by this standard is to 
revise	the	accounting	for	defined	benefit	plans.	The	
amendment removes the options for accounting for 
the liability, and requires that the liabilities arising from 
such plans is recognised in full with actuarial gains 
and losses being recognised in other comprehensive 
income. It also revised the method of calculating the 
return on plan assets.

The revised standard changes the definition of  
short-term	employee	benefits.	The	distinction	between	
short-term	and	other	long-term	employee	benefits	is	
now	based	on	whether	the	benefits	are	expected	to	be	
settled wholly with 12 months after the reporting date. 
This Standard makes numerous editorial amendments 
to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations,	including	amendments	to	reflect	
changes made to the text of IFRS by the IASB.

The company does not have any defined benefit  
plans and is not subject to these changes in the 
accounting standard.

(r) New accounting standards and interpretations 
but not yet effective

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement (Effective 1 July 2013): 
AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for 
determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. AASB 
13 does not change when an entity is required to use fair 
value, but rather, provides guidance on how to determine 
fair value when fair value is required or permitted. 
Application	of	this	definition	may	result	in	different	 
fair values being determined for the relevant assets.

AASB 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for 
all asset or liabilities carried at fair value. This includes 
information about the assumptions made and the 
qualitative impact of those assumptions on the fair 
value determined.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards	via	AASB	2011-8. 

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities (Effective 1 July 2013): 
AASB	2012-2	principally	amends	AASB	7	Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures to require disclosure of the 
effect	or	potential	effect	of	netting	arrangements.	This	
includes	rights	of	set-off	associated	with	the	entity’s	
recognised	financial	assets	and	liabilities	on	the	entity’s	
financial	position,	when	the	offsetting	criteria	of	AASB	
132 are not all met.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-
2011 Cycle (Effective 1 July 2013): 
AASB	2012-5	makes	amendments	resulting	 
from	the	2009-2011	Annual	Improvements	Cycle.	 
The standard addresses a range of improvements, 
including the following:

•	 Repeat	application	of	AASB	1	is	permitted	(AASB	1)

•	 Clarification	of	the	comparative	information	
requirements when an entity provides a third balance 
sheet (AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements).

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from 
the withdrawal of Australian Interpretation AASB 
1039 (Effective 1 July 2013): 
AASB	2012-9	amends	AASB	1048 Interpretation of 
Standards to evidence the withdrawal of Australian 
Interpretation 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax 
Bills in Australia.



AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian 
Accounting Standards (Effective 1 July 2013): 
This standard establishes a differential financial 
reporting framework consisting of two tiers of 
reporting requirements for preparing general  
purpose financial statements:

(a) Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards

(b) Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards –  
Reduced Disclosure Requirements

Tier 2 comprises the recognition, measurement and 
presentation requirements of Tier 1 and substantially 
reduced disclosures corresponding to those requirements.

The following entities apply Tier 1 requirements in 
preparing	general	purpose	financial	statements:

(a)	 For-profit	entities	in	the	private	sector	that	have 
public	accountability	(as	defined	by	this	standard)

(b) The Australian Government and State, Territory  
and Local governments.

The following entities apply either Tier 2 or Tier 1 
requirements in preparing general purpose  
financial statements:

(a)	 For-profit	private	sector	entities	that	do	not	have	
public accountability

(b)	 All	not-for-profit	private	sector	entities

(c) Public sector entities other than Australian Government 
and State, Territory and Local governments.

Consequential amendments to other standards to 
implement the regime were introduced by AASB 
2010-2,	2011-2,	2011-6,	2011-11,	2012-1,	2012-7	
and	2012-11.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities (Effective 1 July 2014): 
AASB	2012-3	adds	application	guidance	to	AASB	
132 Financial Instruments: Presentation to address 
inconsistencies	identified	in	applying	some	of	the	
offsetting	criteria	of	AASB	132,	including	clarifying	the	
meaning	of	“currently	has	a	legally	enforceable	right	of	
set-off”	and	that	some	gross	settlement	systems	may	
be considered equivalent to net settlement.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (Effective 1 July 2015): 
AASB	9	includes	requirements	for	the	classification	
and	measurement	of	financial	assets.	It	was	further	
amended	by	AASB	2010-7	to	reflect	amendments	to	
the	accounting	for	financial	liabilities.

These requirements improve and simplify the approach 
for	classification	and	measurement	of	financial	assets	
compared with the requirements of AASB 139.  
The main changes are described below:

(a) Financial assets that are debt instruments will be 
classified	based	on	(1)	the	objective	of	the	entity’s	
business	model	for	managing	the	financial	assets;	
(2)	the	characteristics	of	the	contractual	cash	flows.

(b) Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition 
to present gains and losses on investments in equity 
instruments that are not held for trading in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of 
these investments that are a return on investment 
can	be	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	and	there	is	no	
impairment or recycling on disposal of the instrument.

(c) Financial assets can be designated and measured at 
fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	at	initial	recognition	
if	doing	so	eliminates	or	significantly	reduces	a	
measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities,  
or recognising the gains and losses on them,  
on	different	bases.

(d)	 Where	the	fair	value	option	is	used	for	financial	
liabilities the change in fair value is to be accounted 
for as follows:

•	 The	change	attributable	to	changes	in	credit	risk	are	
presented in other comprehensive income (OCI)

•	 The	remaining	change	is	presented	in	profit	or	loss.

If this approach creates or enlarges an accounting 
mismatch	in	the	profit	or	loss,	the	effect	of	the	changes	
in	credit	risk	are	also	presented	in	profit	or	loss.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards as a result of AASB 9, introduced by AASB 
2009-11	and	superseded	by	AASB	2010-7	and	2010-10.

Management do not believe that the new accounting 
standards and interpretations that will occur in the 
future	will	have	a	material	impact	upon	the	financial	
statements prepared by the company.

45



Note 3. Other revenue and expenses

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s
INCOME
Other revenue from operating activities  
	 -	 Interest	received		 	 455	 305

	 -	Distributions	from	Managed	Investments	 	 117	 183

	 -	Net	gain/(loss)	on	financial	instruments	at	fair	value		 	 348	 252

	 -	 Profit	on	sale	of	fixed	assets	 	 -	 30

	 -	Disposal	of	the	External	Financial	Planning	Business	 	 -	 393

    920 1,163

EXPENSES
Depreciation and amortisation  
Depreciation  
	 -	 Building	 	 352	 369

	 -	Building	improvements	 	 327	 372

	 -	 Leasehold	improvements	 	 559	 705

	 -	 Fixtures	and	fittings	 	 208	 190

	 -	Computer	and	office	equipment	 	 1,288	 1,233

	 -	 Telephone	system	 	 6	 2

	 -	Motor	vehicles	 	 132	 140

    2,872 3,011

Amortisation  

	 -	 System	development	 	 254	 12

    254 12

Total  3,126 3,023

Other expenses  

	 -	 Corporate	 	 5,888	 5,423

	 -	Building	and	office	 	 3,945	 3,720

	 -	Marketing	and	advertising	 	 1,614	 1,815

	 -	 Information	system	 	 1,340	 1,128

	 -	 Travel	and	Motor	Vehicle	 	 467	 445

	 -	 Loss	on	sale	of	fixed	assets	 	 12	 -

	 -		Other	 	 576	 434

    13,842   12,965



Note 4. Income tax equivalent expense

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s

Profit/(loss) before tax   1,569 720

Prima	facie	tax	at	30%	 	 471	 216

Tax effect of non-temporary differences:   

	 -	 Imputation	Credits	and	Other		 	 (20)	 (12)

	 -	 Entertainment	 	 6	 6

	 -	Adjustment	on	prior	year	 	 20	 390

Total income tax expense attributable to operating profit  477 600

Total income tax expense comprises movements in:  

	 -	 Current	tax	expense		 	 639	 392

	 -	Deferred	tax	expense	 	 (134)	 210

	 -	Other	adjustments		 	 (28)	 (2)

    477 600

Taxable and deductible temporary differences arise from the following:

     Consolidated entity
    2013 Opening  Charged to Charged to Closing 
    Balance Income Equity Balance
    $000s $000s $000s $000s

Gross deferred tax assets
	 -		Provision	for	doubtful	debts	 	 4	 (2)	 -	 2

	 -	 Provision	for	employee	entitlements	 	 2,768	 (248)	 -	 2,520

	 -	 Provision	for	accrued	expenses	 	 324	 263	 -	 587

	 -	Accrued	audit	fees	 	 57	 31	 -	 88

	 -	Accrued	Lease	expenses		 	 226	 140	 -	 366

	 -	Carry	forward	capital	losses	 	 318	 (122)	 -	 196

	 -	 FBT	 	 -	 18	 -	 18

	 -	 Fixed	Assets	(General)	 	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 -	 Fixed	Assets	(Refurbishment)	 	 145	 65	 -	 210

	 -	Unrealised	Losses	 	 11	 (11)	 -	 -

    3,853 134 - 3,987

Gross deferred tax liabilities    

	 -	Unrealised	gains	on	investments	 	 (35)	 (37)	 -	 (72)

	 -	 FBT	 	 (2)	 2	 -	 -

	 -	 Fixed	Assets	(General)	 	 (219)	 35	 -	 (184)

	 -	Asset	revaluation	reserve	 	 (440)	 -	 29	 (411)

    (696) - 29 (667)
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Note 5. Cash and cash equivalents

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s
Cash on hand and at bank  1,459 2,554

Short term money market deposits at call  10,690 5,486

Total cash assets  12,149 8,040

Note 6. Receivables (current) 

Receivables  1,910 4,280

Less: Provision for doubtful debts  (6) (13)

    1,910 4,267

Accrued income  7,941 7,502

Total current receivables  9,845 11,769

Note 7. Property classified as held for sale

 Consolidated entity 2013
    Land Building Total
    $000s $000s $000s
Opening Value  5,600 13,100 18,700

Additions	at	cost	 	 -	 7	 7

Disposals	at	cost	 	 -	 -	 -

Revaluation of asset  (220) (808) (1,028)

Elimination	of	Accumulated	Depreciation	 	 -	 (679)	 (679)

    5,380 11,620 17,000

Opening	accumulated	depreciation	 	 -	 -	 -

Depreciation	for	the	year	 	 -	 679	 679

Accumulated	depreciation	on	disposals	 	 -	 -	 -

Elimination	of	accumulated	depreciation	 	 -	 (679)	 (679)

    - - -

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2013  5,380 11,620 17,000

Consolidated entity 2012 (nil) 
The	business	has	entered	into	a	commercial	in	confidence	agreement	on	the	18th	July	2013	to	dispose	of	 
the	land	and	buildings	in	relation	to	our	head	office	premises	with	the	settlement	scheduled	to	occur	on	the	 
18th September 2013.

The	land	and	buildings	have	been	re-classified	from	a	Non-Current	Asset	in	2011/12	to	a	Current	Asset	classified	
as held for sale in 2012/13.

Capital Gains Tax (CGT) has not been taken into account in determining the carrying amounts of land and 
buildings. The land and buildings were acquired before CGT was introduced. The economic entity is not liable  
to pay CGT except with respect to building refurbishments since the introduction of CGT.



Note 8. Property, plant, and equipment

 Consolidated entity 2013
 Leasehold  Furniture & Computer & Motor System Total
  Fittings Office Vehicles Development
   equipment
 $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

Opening Value 4,310 3,114 18,735 855 10,048 37,062

Additions at cost 2,450 535 1,769 63 2,618 7,435

Disposals	at	cost	 -	 -	 -	 (269)	 -	 (269)

Revaluation	of	asset	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

Elimination	of	Accumulated	Depreciation	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

 6,760 3,649 20,504 649 12,666 44,228

Opening accumulated depreciation 2,391 1,987 16,737 459 10,048 31,622

Depreciation for the year 502 243 1,316 132 254 2,447

Accumulated	depreciation	on	disposals	 -	 -	 -	 (184)	 -	 (184)

Elimination	of	accumulated	depreciation	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -

 2,893 2,230 18,053 407 10,302 33,885

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2013 3,867 1,419 2,451 242 2,364 10,343

Capital WIP additions      2,822
      13,165
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Note 8. Property, plant, and equipment (Continued)

 Consolidated entity 2012
 Land Building Leasehold  Furniture & Computer & Motor System Total
   Fittings  Office Vehicles Development
     equipment
 $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

Opening Value 5,980 11,721 3,941 3,014 18,438 834 10,048 53,976

Additions	at	cost	 -	 23	 369	 100	 306	 93	 -	 891

Disposals	at	cost	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (9)	 (72)	 -	 (81)

Revaluation	of	asset	 (380)	 2,097	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 1,717
Elimination of  
Accumulated Depreciation	 -	 (741)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (741)

 5,600 13,100 4,310 3,114 18,735 855 10,048 55,762

Opening  
accumulated depreciation	 -	 -	 1,686	 1,797	 15,510	 380	 10,036	 29,409

Depreciation	for	the	year	 -	 741	 705	 190	 1,235	 140	 12	 3,023
Accumulated depreciation  
on disposals	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (8)	 (61)	 -	 (69)
Elimination of  
accumulated depreciation	 -	 (741)	 -	 -	 -	 -	 -	 (741)

 - - 2,391 1,987 16,737 459 10,048 31,622

Net Book Value as at  
30 June 2012 5,600 13,100 1,919 1,127 1,998 396 - 24,140
Capital WIP additions        5,137

        29,277

Capital Gains Tax (CGT) has not been taken into account in determining the carrying amounts of land and buildings. 
The land and buildings were acquired before CGT was introduced. The economic entity is not liable to pay CGT except 
with respect to building refurbishments since the introduction of CGT.



Note 9. Reserves

General Reserve – Trustee Companies Act 
Under the Trustee Companies Act 1984 (the Act), a reserve fund of not less than half of one per cent of the value 
of	company-managed	trust	estates	in	Victoria	must	be	provided	(refer	to	Note	19).	In	the	event	that	a	liquidator,	
receiver or manager is appointed, reserve fund monies are to be paid from the trustee company according to 
Section 39(3) of the Act. Section 38 of the Act requires the company to place assets into a reserve fund. These 
assets must be managed consistent with requirements of the Trustee Act 1958.

On 30 June 1999, in keeping with legislation amending the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994, the 
corpus amounts held by Common Funds managed by the parent entity were paid to State Trustees Limited and 
transferred	to	a	general	reserve.	The	movement	in	the	general	reserve	reflects	a	transfer	of	$229,000	to	Retained	
Profits	in	2013	(2012:	transfer	of	$240,000	from	Retained	Profits).

Asset Revaluation Reserve  
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings to 
the	extent	that	they	offset	one	another.

Land and buildings were revalued to recoverable amounts subject to existing use as at 30 June 2013 in 
accordance	with	AASB	116.	In	March	2013,	the	Directors	obtained	an	independent	valuation	of	the	company-
owned land and buildings, which resulted in a decrease of $1,700k from the prior year. The independent valuer 
was Colliers International.

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s

Assets comprising the Reserve Fund  

Land and building: Note 7 & Note 8  17,000 18,700

Reserve fund requirements: Note 19  9,418 9,647

Surplus  7,582 9,053

Note 10. Payables (current)  

Trade creditors, unsecured  2,223 1,520

Other creditors, unsecured  4,465 2,545

Staffing	costs	and	packages	 	 1,613	 1,581

Unearned revenue  945 274

Total current payables  9,246 5,920

Note 11. Contributed equity  

Share capital  

Ordinary shares  

(12,461,664 fully paid shares, 2012: 12,461,664)  12,462 12,462

Contribution from Owners  4,899 3,866

Total Share Capital  17,361 16,328

The entity has only one shareholder, the State of Victoria, which owns all the ordinary shares. This entitles the 
holder to receive dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company that is in proportion to the number 
of, and amounts paid on, the shares held.
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Note 12. Commitments

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s

Operating lease commitments   

Not later than one year  2,575 1,343

Later	than	one	year	but	not	later	than	five	years	 	 15,306	 12,849

Later	than	five	years		 	 61,534	 65,575

Operating lease commitments  79,415 79,767

The	operating	lease	commitments	reflect	our	lease	obligations	for	leasehold	premises.	This	includes	the	Lt	
Bourke	Street,	Dandenong,	Bendigo,	Footscray	and	Exhibition	Street	leases	over	the	non-optional	lease	period.	
Each lease has agreed annual increases that have been factored into the commitment and no lease is subject to 
market	reviews	in	the	non-optional	lease	period.	There	are	no	purchase	options,	or	escalation	clauses	and	lease	
renewals are subject to mutual agreement by all parties.

Operating expenditure contracted for is payable as follows  
Not later than one year  380 361

Later	than	one	year	but	not	later	than	five	years	 	 875	 840

Later	than	five	years	 	 239	 367

Operating expenditure commitments  1,494 1,568

The operating expenditure contracted for represents the outgoings for our leasehold premises payable to the 
landlord, cleaning contracts in relation to our premises, and operating expenditure related to the development 
of	the	new	office	premises	in	Footscray.

Capital expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:  

Not later than one year   14,399 186

Later	than	one	year	but	not	later	than	five	years	 	 1,128	 -

Later	than	five	years	 	 -	 -

Capital expenditure commitments  15,527 186

The capital expenditure for 2013 represents future purchases which the business has entered into in relation 
to	the	fit-out	of	our	new	office	premises	in	Footscray	and	the	implementation	of	a	records	management	
information	system	(2012	related	to	the	fit-out	of	our	Bendigo	office	which	is	now	fully	operational).	



Note 13. Provisions, Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s

Provisions  
Onerous Lease Provision  

Balance	at	beginning	of	the	year	 	 37	 -

Arising	during	the	financial	year	 	 393	 37

Amounts	used	during	the	financial	year	 	 (47)	 -

Amounts	reversed	during	the	financial	year	 	 (18)	 -

Total Onerous Lease Provision  365 37

The	Onerous	Lease	Provision	is	classified	as	 	

Current  142 34

Non-current	 	 223	 3

A provision has been created to recognise onerous leases in relation to leasehold premises. The business no longer 
conducts operations from these locations.

New onerous lease provisions were recognised during 2012/13 due to the closure and relocation of our operations 
from	these	premises.	The	business	is	attempting	to	sub-lease	these	premises	and	be	released	from	our	contractual	
obligations by the lessor.

The	onerous	lease	provision	in	existence	at	the	end	of	the	2012	financial	year	was	settled	in	conjunction	with	the	
lessor	during	the	financial	year	(refer	to	the	$18,000	reversed	out	during	the	2013	financial	year).

Contingent liabilities: Performance bonds  

Guarantee in favour of the ASX Settlement  
and	Transfer	Corporation	Pty	Ltd	(CHESS	membership)	 	 -	 500

Guarantee	in	favour	of	ASIC	(AFS	Licence)	 	 -	 20

Total contingent liabilities  - 520

The company had two bank guarantees with our bankers relating to regulatory requirements for both the ASX and 
ASIC. During 2012/13, both the ASX and ASIC discharged the requirement to have a bank guarantee in relation to 
our respective regulatory requirements.
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Note 14. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s

Reconciliation	of	net	cash	inflow	from	net	profit	after	 
tax to net cash provided by operating activities  

Net	profit	after	income	tax	 	 1,092	 120

Add	back/(subtract)	non	cash	flows	in	operating	result	 	

	 -	 Loss/(gain)	on	sale	of	Property,	Plant	&	Equipment	 	 12	 (30)

	 -	Depreciation	and	amortisation	expense	 	 3,126	 3,023

	 -	 Provision	for	Doubtful	Debts	 	 (7)	 (11)

	 -	Unrealised	Loss/(Gain)	on	corporate	investments	 	 (348)	 (119)

Changes in assets and liabilities  

	 -	 Increase/(decrease)	in	Income	Tax	Equivalent	Payable	 	 (190)	 (158)

	 -	Decrease/(increase)	in	Deferred	Taxes	 	 477	 600

	 -	 Increase/(decrease)	in	Employee	Entitlements	 	 (803)	 137

	 -	Decrease/(increase)	in	Trade	and	Other	Receivables	 	 19	 889

	 -	Decrease/(increase)	in	Prepayments	and	Other	Assets	 	 658	 (447)

	 -	 Increase/(decrease)	in	Trade	and	Other	Creditors	 	 3,531	 512

Net cash inflow from operating activities  7,567 4,516

Note 15. Controlled entities 
The	consolidated	financial	statements	at	30	June	2013	include	the	following	controlled	entities.	The	financial	year	
of the controlled entities is the same as that of the parent entity.

 Controlled entity Place of Type of Book value of parent % of shares held Contribution to the 
 incorporation shares entity’s investment in $  results in $000S 
   2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

 STL Financial  Australia Ordinary 5.2M 5.2M 100 100 304 240 
 Services Limited

STL Financial Services Limited has $5.2 million of paid up capital which supports the Australian Financial Services 
Licence requirements in respect of minimum net tangible assets.  The State of Victoria is State Trustees Limited’s 
ultimate parent.



Note 16. Parent Entity Information – State Trustees Limited

Information relating to State Trustees Limited: 30 June 2013 30 June 2012
 $’000 $’000

Current assets  43,903 23,734

Non-current	assets	 22,214	 38,185

Total assets  66,117 61,919
Current liabilities  15,784 12,395

Non-current	liabilities	 2,018	 2,248

Total liabilities  17,802 14,643
Issued capital  17,361 16,328

Retained earnings 9,418 7,361

Asset revaluation reserve 12,941 13,940

General reserve 8,595 9,647

Total shareholders’ equity  48,315 47,276
Profit	or	loss	of	the	parent	entity	 789	 158

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity (210) 1,788

Contingent Liabilities: Performance Bonds
Guarantee	in	favour	of	the	ASX	Settlement	and	Transfer	 -	 500 
Corporation Pty Ltd (CHESS membership)

Guarantee	in	favour	of	ASIC	(AFS	Licence)	 -	 20

State Trustees Limited (parent entity) has entered into  
the operating lease commitments, operating expenditure 
commitments and capital expenditure commitments as  
disclosed	in	Note	11	of	these	financial	statements.	 	

Note 17. Economic dependency 
A significant portion of revenue is received from the State of Victoria via the Community Services Agreement.  
A	three-year	agreement	has	been	agreed	and	signed	by	both	parties	until	30	June	2016.	This	contract	is	between	
State Trustees Limited and the Department of Human Services (refer to the Statement of Comprehensive Income). 

The company had entered into a regional funding agreement with the State of Victoria via the Department 
of Treasury and Finance. The funding arrangement is in the form of capital contributions to fund capital 
expenditure and government grant income to fund operational and transitional expenditure. The value of 
the	funding	arrangement	was	a	maximum	of	$12.6	million.	This	funding	agreement	was	finalised	during	the	
2012/13	financial	year,	with	a	cumulative	project	total	of	$9.9	million.	
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Note 18. Related party disclosures

Key management personnel 
State Trustees Limited’s key management personnel include the Directors and those executives reporting 
directly to the Managing Director.

Directors 
The	following	persons	held	the	position	of	company	Director	during	the	past	financial	year:
Julie Elliott Anthony Fitzgerald* Patrick Burroughs Dino Georgiou
Dr Irene Irvine Lindsay Smith Bobby Guttmann 

* Anthony Fitzgerald is the Managing Director as well as a member of the executive and all of his remuneration 
is included in the remuneration table for company directors. 

The remuneration of the company directors is tabled below.

Income Band Total Base 
 Remuneration Remuneration
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 No. No.  No. No.

$10,000	-	$19,999	 -	 4	 -	 4
$20,000	-	$29,999	 -	 1	 -	 1
$30,000	-	$39,999	 5	 3	 5	 3
$60,000	-	$69,999	 1	 1	 1	 1
$310,000	-	$319,999	 -	 -	 -	 1
$320,000	-	$329,999	 -	 -	 1	 -
$380,000	-	$389,999	 1	 -	 -	 -
$400,000	-	$409,999	 -	 1	 -	 -

Total number of directors 7 10 7 10
Total annualised employee equivalents (AEE)** 1.7 1.8  1.7 1.8 

Total amount $636,706  $674,800  $558,187  $565,126 

** Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the  
52 weeks for a reporting period.

The	following	persons	held	executive	positions	during	the	past	financial	year:
Anthony Fitzgerald Managing Director
Prue Willsford General Manager, Corporate Operations
John Brennan	 General	Manager,	Business	Transformation	Office
Angela Burton General Manager, Client Operations
Vicki Hood General Manager, Sales and Marketing (ceased 5 April 2013)
Craig Dent General Manager, Client Services
Geoff Purcell General Manager, Information Services
Peter Noske	 Chief	Financial	Officer	(ceased	13	February	2013)



The remuneration of the key executives is tabled below. 

Income Band Total Base 
 Remuneration Remuneration
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 No. No.  No. No.

$60,000	-	$69,999	 -	 -	 -	 1
$70,000	-	$79,999	 -	 2	 1	 2
$110,000	-	$119,999	 -	 -	 -	 1
$120,000	-	$129,999	 -	 1	 -	 -
$160,000	-	$169,999	 -	 -	 1	 -
$180,000	-	$189,999	 -	 -	 1	 1
$190,000	-	$199,999	 1	 1	 -	 -
$210,000	-	$219,999	 -	 -	 1	 2
$220,000	-	$229,999	 1	 -	 1	 1
$230,000	-	$239,999	 -	 1	 2	 -
$240,000	-	$249,999	 -	 1	 -	 -
$270,000	-	$279,999	 2	 -	 -	 -
$280,000	-	$289,999	 2	 -	 -	 -
$290,000	-	$299,999	 1	 1	 -	 -
$300,000	-	$309,999	 -	 1	 -	 -

Total number of executives 7 8 7 8
Total annualised employee equivalents (AEE)** 6.0 5.3  6.0  5.3 

Total amount $1,841,635  $1,542,397  $1,339,762  $1,163,029 

** Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 
weeks for a reporting period.

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
The principles underlying our remuneration policies are outlined in the Corporate Governance Statement. 
Remuneration is based on the Government Sector Employment Remuneration Panel (GSERP) framework. This is 
structured	as	a	total	employment	cost	package,	delivered	as	a	mix	of	cash	and	prescribed	non-financial	benefits	
at the executives’ discretion. Executives receive no more than 80 per cent of the Managing Director’s base salary 
(as	determined	by	GSERP).	In	addition,	they	are	offered	short-term	incentives	to	the	maximum	of	20	per	cent	of	
total base remuneration.

Other transactions with key management or entities related to them 
There	are	no	other	transactions	with	key	management	personnel	in	the	financial	year	ended	30	June	2013.

Transactions with STL Financial Services Limited 
The	parent	entity	entered	into	the	following	transactions	during	the	financial	year	with	its	controlled	entity.	 
It	advanced	and	repaid	amounts	on	short-term	inter-company	accounts.	These	are	repayable	on	demand.

 Consolidated entity Parent entity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 $000s $000s $000s $000s

Dividend	payments	received	 -	 -	 216	 279

Inter-company	receivables	 -	 -	 173	 2

Inter-company	tax	related	receivables	 -	 -	 66	 173

All transactions with related parties are conducted on commercial terms and conditions.
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Transactions with inveST Funds 
Group Investments in the inveST Funds:

 Consolidated entity Parent entity
 2013 2012 2013 2012
 $000s $000s $000s $000s

inveST	Diversified	Income	Fund		 5,977	 4,383	 1,078	 1,091

inveST Australian Equity Fund  1,828 1,562 457 390

Total investment in inveST funds 7,805 5,945 1,535 1,481

Fees and Commissions received from    

inveST Funds 4,998 3,815 4,998 3,815

Common Funds 4,498 5,009 4,498 5,009

Total fees and commissions 9,496 8,824 9,496 8,824

State Trustees Limited received fees in its capacity as the Responsible Entity of the inveST Funds. State Trustees 
Limited received fees in its capacity as Manager and Trustee of the Cash and Charitable Common Funds.

Directors’ interests  
There are no Directors’ interests in any of the Funds managed by the Group.

Note 19. Client assets under management and trusteeship 
Total	client	assets	under	management	and	trusteeship	were	as	follows.	These	amounts	are	not	reflected	in	the	
Statement of Financial Position as they are held in trust on behalf of the entities’ clients.

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s

Investments, real estate, personal, and other assets  945,678 1,039,441

Client investments in Common Funds  937,915 889,916

Total Assets under Management and Trusteeship  1,883,593 1,929,357

Note 20. Remuneration of auditors

    Consolidated entity
    2013 2012
    $000s $000s

	 -	Audit	or	review	of	the	financial	statements	 	 194	 154

Total remuneration*  194 154

*Total remuneration includes remuneration paid (or due to be paid) to the auditor, Victorian Auditor General’s 
Office	(VAGO),	of	the	parent	entity	and	its	controlled	entities.

During the year, the auditors (VAGO) were paid for auditing the Common Funds and inveST Funds where State 
Trustees Limited acts as trustee and responsible entity. The total amount due and payable was $303,473 (2012: 
$257,268), including the $193,510 disclosed above.

During the year, the audit service provider, (VAGO) was paid for auditing the State Trustees Australia Foundation and 
State Trustees Australia Foundation Open Fund where State Trustees Limited acts as Trustee. The total amount due 
and payable was $25,496 (2012: $18,707). These expenses are included in Note 3: Other Expenses – Corporate.

During the year, the audit service provider (VAGO) was paid for auditing the Residents Trust Fund where State 
Trustees Limited acts as Fund Manager and Trustee. The total amount due and payable was $12,745 (2012: 
$11,453). These expenses are included in Note 3: Other Expenses – Corporate.



Note 21. Financial risk management 
The	Group’s	principal	financial	instruments	comprise	cash	and	short-term	deposits	and	financial	assets	at	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss.	The	financial	instruments’	main	purpose	is	to	generate	a	return	on	the	Group’s	investments.	
The	Group	has	various	other	financial	instruments	such	as	receivables	and	accounts	payable	that	arise	directly	from	
its operations.

The	main	risks	arising	from	the	Group’s	financial	instruments	are	interest	rate	risk,	credit	risk,	market	risk,	and	
liquidity	and	cash	flow	risk.	These	risks	are	measured	using	a	method	that	reflects	the	expected	impact	on	the	
results from reasonably possible changes in the relevant risk variables. Information about these risk exposures at 
the	reporting	date,	measured	on	this	basis,	is	disclosed	below.	Information	about	the	total	fair	value	of	financial	
instruments exposed to risk, as well as compliance with established investment mandate limits, is also monitored  
by Management and the Investment Committee and reported on a monthly basis.

Interest rate risk exposures 
Interest	rate	risk	arises	from	the	possibility	that	changes	in	interest	rates	will	affect	future	cashflows	or	the	fair	values	
of	financial	instruments.	The	Group	has	established	limits	on	investments	in	interest	bearing	assets,	which	are	
monitored weekly.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates is limited to cash and short term deposits as disclosed in Note 5. The Group 
has no borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s Statement of Comprehensive Incomes to a reasonably 
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant.

The	sensitivity	of	the	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income	is	the	effect	of	the	assumed	changes	in	interest	rates	on:

•	 The	interest	income	for	one	year,	based	on	the	floating	rate	cash	and	cash	equivalent	financial	assets	held	 
at 30 June 2013.

Accounting Assumptions - Variability of interest rates 
The basis points sensitivity is based on the volatility of change in interest rates over the past 10 years.

   Equity - Sensitivity   Post Tax Profit 
   of interest income  Higher/Lower

   +100 bps  100 bps +100 bps  100 bps

Consolidated Entity $ $ $ $
30 June 2013 151,708 (151,708) 106,196 (106,196)

30 June 2012 110,356 (110,356) 77,249 (77,249)

Currency risk 
Currency	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	due	to	changes	
in	foreign	exchange	rates.	There	is	no	significant	direct	foreign	exchange	risk	exposure	to	the	Group.	
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Credit risk 
The Group’s credit risk involves counterparties’ failure to perform contractual obligations that will cause the Group  
to	incur	financial	losses.	Concentrations	of	credit	risk	are	minimised	primarily	by	ensuring:

•	 Transactions	are	undertaken	with	a	diverse	range	of	counterparties,	a	large	amount	with	the	Victorian	 
Department of Human Services.

•	 A	majority	of	transactions	are	undertaken	with	clients	under	our	administration.

In addition, receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that exposure to bad debts  
has	not	been	significant.	There	is	no	material	exposure	to	a	group	of	counterparties	that	is	expected	to	be	affected	
similarly	by	changes	in	economic	or	other	conditions.	The	carrying	amount	of	financial	assets	that	is	recorded	in	 
the	financial	statements	represents	the	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk.

Allowance for impairment loss 
Receivables	are	non-interest	bearing	and	are	generally	on	30-60	day	terms.	An	impairment	loss	is	recognised	 
when there is objective evidence that an individual receivable is impaired. A provision for impairment loss of  
$6,000 (2012: $13,000) has been recognised by the Group.

Movements in the provision for impairment loss were as follows:

 Consolidated entity
  2013  2012
  $000s $000s

At 1 July 13 24

Charge for the year 29 17

Amounts	written	off	or	reversed	 (36)	 (28)

At 30 June 6 13

At 30 June, the ageing analysis of receivables is as follows:

  0-30 31-60 61-90 +91 
 Total days days days days

2013 Consolidated 9,845 9,317 94 28 406
2012 Consolidated 11,769 11,413 70 43 243

Other balances within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that these other 
balances	will	be	received	when	due.	The	receivables	will	be	realised	when	the	business	finalises	the	relevant	client	
files.	The	majority	of	these	relate	to	Deceased	Estates	products	which	are	still	open,	but	are	waiting	on	further	actions	
(which	include	legal	related	issues)	to	be	finalised	with	outstanding	liabilities	to	be	settled.

Liquidity and cash flow risk 
Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	in	either	realising	assets	or	otherwise	raising	sufficient	funds	to	satisfy	commitments	associated	with	
the	entity’s	operations.	Cash	flow	risk	relates	to	the	fluctuations	in	future	cash	flows	from	holding	financial	instruments.	
Risk	management	guidelines	adopted	that	are	designed	to	minimise	liquidity	and	cash	flow	risk	are:

•	 Ensuring	substantial	cash	reserves	are	held	by	the	entity	with	major	Australian	banks.

•	 Ensuring	there	is	no	significant	exposure	to	illiquid	or	thinly-traded	financial	instruments.

•	 Applying	limits	to	ensure	that	there	is	no	concentration	of	liquidity	risk	to	a	particular	counterparty	or	market.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s expectations.  
To	monitor	existing	financial	assets	and	liabilities	as	well	as	to	enable	an	effective	controlling	of	future	risks	State	
Trustees	Limited	monitors	risk	through	reporting	that	reflects	management’s	expectations	of	future	settlement	 
of	financial	assets	and	liabilities.	The	risk	implied	from	the	values	shown	in	the	table	below,	reflects	a	balanced	 
view	of	cash	inflows	and	outflows.	



Consolidated Entity 2013 <6  6-12 1-5 >5 
 months  months  years years Total 
 $000s $000s  $000s $000s $000s

Financial assets     

Cash	and	deposits	 12,149	 -	 -	 -	 12,149

Receivables	 9,841	 4	 -	 -	 9,745

Advances	to	clients	 1,723	 1,302	 -	 -	 3,025

Interests in inveST Funds 

>	Diversified	Income	 5,977	 -	 -	 -	 5,977

>	Australian	Equity	 1,828	 -	 -	 -	 1,828

   31,518 1,306 - - 32,824

Financial liabilities     

Accounts	payable	 6,688	 -	 -	 -	 6,688

   6,688 - - - 6,688

Consolidated Entity 2012 <6   6-12 1-5 >5 
 months  months  years years Total 
 $000s $000s  $000s $000s $000s

Financial assets     

Cash	and	deposits	 8,040	 -	 -	 -	 8,040

Receivables	 11,762	 6	 -	 -	 11,768

Advances	to	clients	 2,622	 377	 -	 -	 2,999

Interests in inveST Funds 

>	Diversified	Income	 4,383	 -	 -	 -	 4,383

>	Australian	Equity	 1,562	 -	 -	 -	 1,562

   28,369 383 - - 28,752

Financial liabilities     

Accounts	payable	 4,065	 -	 -	 -	 4,065

   4,065 - - - 4,065

Market risk 
Market	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	financial	instruments	will	fluctuate	due	to	changes	
in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Market risk is managed and 
monitored using sensitivity analysis, and minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are undertaken in 
accordance with established mandate limits and investment strategies. This risk exposure is managed by diversifying 
investments	and	managing	to	a	conservative	asset	allocation	model.	15%	of	our	financial	investments	are	in	Growth	
assets	(exposure	to	listed	domestic	equities	through	investment	in	managed	investment	schemes)	and	85%	are	
invested	in	defensive	assets	(exposure	to	cash	and	fixed	interest	through	investments	in	managed	investment	
schemes	and	cash	deposits	with	financial	institutions).	State	Trustees	Limited	is	indirectly	exposed	to	market	risk	by	
holding units in the inveST Funds. The performance of the inveST Funds due to the market risk can impact upon the 
distributions received from our unit holdings, the underlying value of these unit holdings as well as the fees earned 
from State Trustees Limited being the responsible entity of the funds.
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Consolidated Entity 30 June 2013 Change in  Effect on Effect on 
 equity price operating profit statement of
   financial position 
 % $ $

inveST Diversified Income Fund 
UBS	Australian	Composite	Bond	Index	 +	2.8%	 167,356	 167,356 
	 -	2.8%	 (167,356)	 (167,356)
inveST Australian Equity Fund    
S&P	ASX	100	Leaders	Accumulation	Index	 +	13.4%	 244,970	 244,970 
	 -	13.4%	 (244,970)	 (244,970)

Consolidated Entity 30 June 2012 Change in  Effect on Effect on 
 equity price operating profit statement of 
   financial position 
 % $ $

inveST Diversified Income Fund  
UBS	Australian	Composite	Bond	Index	 +2.9%	 127,904	 127,904 
	 -2.9%	 (127,904)	 (127,904)

inveST Australian Equity Fund  
S&P	ASX	100	Leaders	Accumulation	Index	 +13.4%	 209,368	 209,368

	 -13.4%	 (209,368)	 (209,368)

Fair value hierarchy 
The	group	uses	the	following	hierarchy	for	determining	and	disclosing	the	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	 
by valuation technique: 
 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
Level	2:	 other	techniques	for	which	all	inputs	that	have	a	significant	effect	on	the	recorded	fair	 
 value are observable, either directly or indirectly. 
Level	3:	 techniques	that	use	inputs	that	have	a	significant	effect	on	the	recorded	fair	value	that	are	not	 
 based on observable market data.

Equity price risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in market prices, whether 
those	changes	are	caused	by	factors	specific	to	the	individual	stock	or	broader	economic	factors	affecting	equity	
markets as a whole. Equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment in Managed Investment Schemes.

The	effect	on	the	Statement	of	Financial	Position	and	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income	due	to	reasonably	
possible changes in market factors (as represented by the equity indices) with all other variables held constant,  
is indicated in the tables below.

Accounting Assumptions - Variability of equity price 
The basis points sensitivity is based on the volatility of change in the respective benchmark indices over the  
last 10 years.



Consolidated Entity
30 June 2013 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
   $000s $000s $000s $000s

Financial assets   

Advances	to	clients	 3,025	 -	 3,025	 -

Interests in inveST Funds 

>	Diversified	Income	 5,977	 -	 5,977	 -

>	Australian	Equity	 1,828	 -	 1,828	 -

   10,830 - 10,830 -

During the reporting period ended 30 June 2013, there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2  
fair value measurements.

Consolidated Entity
30 June 2012 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
   $000s $000s $000s $000s

Financial assets    

Advances	to	clients	 2,999	 -	 2,999	 -

Interests in inveST Funds 

>	Diversified	Income	 4,383	 -	 4,383	 -

>	Australian	Equity	 1,562	 -	 1,562	 -

   8,944 - 8,944 -

During the reporting period ended 30 June 2012, there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair  
value measurements.

The fair values of the Group’s investments in unlisted unit trusts are valued on balance date at the redemption  
price as published by the underlying Fund’s Responsible Entity.
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Note 22. Significant accounting judgements, 
estimates and assumptions 
The	preparation	of	the	financial	statements	requires	
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions	that	affect	the	reported	amounts	in	the	
financial	statements.	Management	continually	evaluates	
its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, 
liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
Management bases its judgements and estimates on 
historical experience and on other various factors it 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
The result of this forms the basis of the carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from	other	sources.	Actual	results	may	differ	from	these	
estimates	under	different	assumptions	and	conditions.

Management	has	identified	the	following	critical	
accounting	policies	for	which	significant	judgements,	
estimates and assumptions are made. Actual results may 
differ	from	these	estimates	under	different	assumptions	
and	conditions	and	may	materially	affect	financial	results	
or	the	financial	position	reported	in	future	periods.	
Further details of the nature of these assumptions and 
conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the 
financial	statements.

Taxation 
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation  
requires management’s judgement as to the types 
of arrangements considered to be a tax on income in 
contrast to an operating cost. Judgement is also required 
in assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain 
deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the Statement 
of Financial Position. Deferred tax assets, including those 
arising from tax losses, capital losses and temporary 
differences	are	recognised	only	where	it	is	considered	
more likely than not that they will be recovered, which  
is	dependent	on	the	generation	of	sufficient	future	
taxable	profits.

Bonus provision 
The calculation of the bonus provision is comprised  
of three Components:

•	 Executive	contracts

•	 Remuneration	and	benefit	entitlements

•	 and	in	line	with	conditions	outlined	in	the	Collective	
Workplace Agreement 2007

Management bases its judgements and estimates on:

•	 Historical	experience;

•	 Current	financial	and	non	financial	performance;	and

•	 Other	various	factors	it	believes	to	be	reasonable	under	
the circumstances.

A portion of these estimates are yet to be approved  
by the Remuneration Committee.

Valuation of investments 
The	Group	has	designated	the	classification	of	
investments in unlisted unit trusts at fair value through 
profit	or	loss.	The	respective	movements	in	fair	value	are	
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
The fair value of investments in unlisted unit trusts has 
been determined by reference to quoted redemption 
prices as reported by the manager of these investments.

Note 23. Matters subsequent to the end  
of the financial year 
Apart from the disposal of the land and buildings 
disclosed in Note 7, and the signing of a new 
Community Services Agreement disclosed in Note 17, 
no	circumstance	has	arisen	that	has	affected	or	may	
significantly	affect	the	company’s	operations	since	 
30 June 2013.

Note 24. Statement of operations by segments 
The consolidated entity provides trustee and related 
financial	services	and	operates	predominantly	 
within Victoria.

Note 25. Registered office 
State Trustees Limited is a company limited by shares, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered 
office	and	principal	place	of	business	is:

State Trustees Limited 
168 Exhibition Street 
Melbourne, Victoria 3000



Directors’ Declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of State Trustees Limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the directors:

(a)	the	financial	statements	and	notes	of	the	consolidated	entity	are	in	accordance	with	the	 
 Corporations Act 2001, including: 
	 (i)	 giving	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	consolidated	entity’s	financial	position	as	at	30	June	2013	 
	 	 and	of	its	performance	for	the	year	ended	on	that	date;	and 
 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)  
  and the Corporations Regulations 2001;  
(b)	the	financial	statements	and	notes	also	comply	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	as	disclosed	 
	 in	note	2;	and	 
(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they  
 become due and payable. 

On behalf of the Board

Julie A Elliott     Anthony G Fitzgerald 
Chairman of Directors    Managing Director 
Melbourne, 27 August 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of State Trustees Limited

The Financial Report 
The	accompanying	financial	report	for	the	year	ended	30	
June 2013 of State Trustees Limited which comprises the 
statement	of	financial	position,	statement	of	comprehensive	
income, statement of changes in equity, statement of 
cash	flows,	notes	comprising	a	summary	of	significant	
accounting policies and other explanatory information, and 
the	directors’	declaration,	has	been	audited.	The	financial	
report	includes	the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	
the economic entity, comprising State Trustees Limited and 
the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to 
time	during	the	financial	year	as	disclosed	in	note	15	to	the	
financial	statements.

The Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
The Directors of State Trustees Limited are responsible for the 
preparation	of	the	financial	report	that	gives	a	true	and	fair	
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and 
the	financial	reporting	requirements	of	the	Corporations Act 
2001, and for such internal control as the Directors determine 
is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	of	the	financial	report	that	
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In Note 2 (a), the Directors also state, in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements,	that	the	financial	report,	comprising	the	
financial	statements	and	notes,	complies	with	International	
Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Corporations Act 2001 and Audit Act 1994, 
my	responsibility	is	to	express	an	opinion	on	the	financial	
report based on the audit, which has been conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
Those standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that  
the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance	about	whether	the	financial	report	is	free	from	
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial	report.	The	audit	procedures	selected	depend	on	
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement	of	the	financial	report,	whether	due	to	fraud	
or error. In making those risk assessments, consideration 
is given to the internal control relevant to the company’s 
preparation	of	the	financial	report	that	gives	a	true	and	fair	
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	company’s	and	the	
consolidated entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of	the	financial	report.

I	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	I	have	obtained	is	sufficient	
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Independence 
The	Auditor-General’s	independence	is	established	by	the	
Constitution Act 1975.	The	Auditor-General	is	not	subject	to	
direction by any person about the way in which his powers  
and responsibilities are to be exercised. In conducting the audit, 
the	Auditor-General,	his	staff	and	delegates	complied	with	
all applicable independence requirements of the Australian 
accounting profession and the Corporations  
Act 2001.	I	confirm	that	I	have	given	to	the	Directors	 
of the company a written independence declaration,  
a copy of which is included in the Directors’ Report.

Opinion 
In my opinion,  
a)	 the	financial	report	of	State	Trustees	Limited	is	in 
 accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and   
	 	 the	economic	entity’s	financial	position	as	at	 
	 	 30	June	2013	and	of	their	financial	performance		 	
  for the year ended on that date 
 ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards   
  and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
b)	 the	financial	report	also	complies	with	International 
 Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2 (a).

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the 
Audited Financial Report 
This	auditor’s	report	relates	to	the	financial	report	of	State	
Trustees Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013 included both 
in State Trustees Limited’s annual report and on the website. 
The Directors of State Trustees Limited are responsible for the 
integrity of State Trustees Limited’s website. I have not been 
engaged to report on the integrity of State Trustees Limited’s 
website. The auditor’s report refers only to the subject matter 
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these 
statements.	If	users	of	the	financial	report	are	concerned	with	
the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they 
are	advised	to	refer	to	the	hard	copy	of	the	audited	financial	
report	to	confirm	the	information	contained	in	the	website	
version	of	the	financial	report.

 

John Doyle    MELBOURNE  
Auditor-General  30 August 2013 

 
Level 24, 35 Collins Street, Melbourne Vic. 3000 
Telephone 61 3 8601 7000   
Facsimile 61 3 8601 7010 
Email comments@audit.vic.gov.au  
Website www.audit.vic.gov.au

Auditing in the Public Interest



State Trustees Bendigo office. 
Graphical elements used throughtout the Annual Report 
are taken from design aspects of this building. 



Additional copies

Copies of this annual report are available by:

•	 visiting our website www.statetrustees.com.au

• telephoning State Trustees on 03 9667 6444  
or 1300 138 672 (local call cost from outside  
the metropolitan area)

Location 
Our	registered	office	and	principal	place	of	business	is:

168 Exhibition Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000 
Telephone 03 9667 6444

Our customer service offices

• Melbourne 
168 Exhibition Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

•	Dandenong 
Shop 4, 157 Lonsdale Street 
(corner of Foster Street) 
Dandenong Victoria 3175

•	 Bendigo 
41 Edward Street 
Bendigo Victoria 3550

•	 Personal Financial Administration 
593 Bourke Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

ABN: 68 064 593 148 
AFSL No. 238037


